



Learn and Live

The online version of this article, along with updated information and services, is located on the World Wide Web at: http://circ.ahajournals.org/cgi/content/full/119/25/3244

Data Supplement (unedited) at: http://circ.ahajournals.org/cgi/content/full/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192521/DC1

Subscriptions: Information about subscribing to Circulation is online at http://circ.ahajournals.org/subscriptions/

Permissions: Permissions & Rights Desk, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, a division of Wolters Kluwer Health, 351 West Camden Street, Baltimore, MD 21202-2436. Phone: 410-528-4050. Fax: 410-528-8550. E-mail: journalpermissions@lww.com

Reprints: Information about reprints can be found online at http://www.lww.com/reprints

Exercise Training for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Impact on Cardiovascular Risk A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association

Thomas H. Marwick, MD, PhD, Chair; Matthew D. Hordern, PhD; Todd Miller, MD, FAHA; Deborah A. Chyun, RN, PhD, FAHA; Alain G. Bertoni, MD, MPH, FAHA;
Roger S. Blumenthal, MD, FAHA; George Philippides, MD; Albert Rocchini, MD, FAHA; on behalf of the American Heart Association Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention
Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young;
Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism; and the Interdisciplinary Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	244
2. Beneficial Effects of Exercise in T2DM	245
Glycemic Control	
Body Composition	
Risk Factors	
Vascular Effects	
Myocardial Function	
Development of CVD	
3. Cardiac Risks of Exercise Training in T2DM 3	
Generic Cardiac Risks of Training	
Screening for Coronary Artery Disease	249
Prior Studies of CAD Screening	
Guidelines/Position Statements	
4. Noncardiac Risks of Exercise Training in T2DM3	251
Hypoglycemia	
Peripheral Arterial Disease and Foot Care 3	
Microvascular Disease	
5. Exercise Training Guidelines	252
Preparation for Exercise	253
Frequency	
Intensity	
Duration	
Session Duration	254
Program Duration	254

Туре								.3254
Aerobic								.3254
Resistance								.3254
6. Approaches to Adherence								.3254
Health Behavior								.3254
Counseling								.3255
Long-Term Efficacy .								.3255
7. Special/Minority Groups								
8. Conclusions								
9. References								

1. Introduction

The increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity has led to an unprecedented epidemic of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM)¹⁻⁴ and is likely to be followed by an epidemic of patients with complications of T2DM.⁵ Given the observed increases in the prevalence of T2DM in adults over the past few decades in developed countries,^{1,2,6} population-based efforts to reduce the cardiovascular complications of T2DM are as critical as the measures to prevent the problem.^{4,7} T2DM is the sixth-leading cause of death,⁸ with most deaths attributed to cardiovascular disease (CVD; nearly 70%) and with ischemic heart disease being responsible for nearly 50% of these deaths.⁹ The economic cost of T2DM has been estimated to be \$172 billion in 2007 in the United States

(Circulation. 2009;119:3244-3262.)

© 2009 American Heart Association, Inc.

Circulation is available at http://circ.ahajournals.org

The American Heart Association makes every effort to avoid any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of an outside relationship or a personal, professional, or business interest of a member of the writing panel. Specifically, all members of the writing group are required to complete and submit a Disclosure Questionnaire showing all such relationships that might be perceived as real or potential conflicts of interest.

This statement was approved by the American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee on April 1, 2009. A copy of the statement is available at http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=3003999 by selecting either the "topic list" link or the "chronological list" link (No. LS-2091). To purchase additional reprints, call 843-216-2533 or e-mail kelle.ramsay@wolterskluwer.com.

The American Heart Association requests that this document be cited as follows: Marwick TH, Hordern MD, Miller T, Chyun DA, Bertoni AG, Blumenthal RS, Philippides G, Rocchini A; on behalf of the American Heart Association Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; Council on Cardiovascular Nursing; Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism; and the Interdisciplinary Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. Exercise training for type 2 diabetes mellitus: impact on cardiovascular risk: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2009;119:3244–3262.

Expert peer review of AHA Scientific Statements is conducted at the AHA National Center. For more on AHA statements and guidelines development, visit http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml?identifier=3023366.

Permissions: Multiple copies, modification, alteration, enhancement, and/or distribution of this document are not permitted without the express permission of the American Heart Association. Instructions for obtaining permission are located at http://www.americanheart.org/presenter.jhtml? identifier=4431. A link to the "Permission Request Form" appears on the right side of the page.

	Description
Classification of recommendation	
Class I	Conditions for which there is evidence and/or general agreement that a given procedure or treatment is beneficial, useful, and effective
Class II	Conditions for which there is conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of a procedure or treatment
Class Ila	Weight of evidence/opinion is in favor of usefulness/efficacy
Class Ilb	Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion
Class III	Conditions for which there is evidence and/or general agreement that a procedure/ treatment is not useful/effective and in some cases may be harmful
Level of evidence	
Level of evidence A	Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analyses
Level of evidence B	Data derived from a single randomized trial or from nonrandomized studies
Level of evidence C	Consensus opinion of experts

 Table 1.
 Classification of Recommendations and Level of Evidence

Throughout the document, these are listed as [class (level)]; for example, class I, level of evidence A is listed as [I (A)].

alone³ (up from \$132 billion in 2002)¹⁰ and is likely to be greater when the other indirect costs of its associated complications are included.¹¹ These complications are due to atherosclerotic vascular disease⁴ but also reflect a susceptibility of patients with T2DM to heart failure,^{12,13} perhaps mediated by direct effects on the myocardium.^{14,15} Pharmaceutical intervention for glycemic control has shown beneficial results for microvascular complications and cardiovascular events remains unclear, with recent work suggesting some benefit,¹⁶ although previous studies report conflicting results.^{17–20}

Exercise, which is often viewed in relation to glycemic control, has important effects on the development of cardiovascular complications in T2DM. For the purpose of this statement, exercise is defined as planned and structured activity that is aimed at improving cardiovascular health and metabolic control. The goals of this scientific statement are to document the mechanisms whereby exercise is important in T2DM management, analyze the existing evidence regarding exercise interventions, and provide practical guidelines about preparation for exercise training programs and safety issues, as well as specific exercise training guidelines that can be used to initiate an exercise program. The recommendations are based on data available from previous investigations; unfortunately, only a few large-scale, randomized, controlled trials are available, and more are needed to confirm this position. The recommendations provided have been classified according to Table 1. Throughout this statement, the classifications and levels of evidence are shown in abbreviated form as class (level of evidence) (eg, [I(A)] for Class I, Level of Evidence A).

2. Beneficial Effects of Exercise in T2DM

The overall beneficial effects of exercise in T2DM are well documented with regard to glucose control and multiple CVD risk factors. Table 2 outlines the exercise prescription and general effect of randomized, controlled trials that have assessed the effect of exercise training on glycemic control and other CVD risk factors in patients with T2DM.²¹⁻⁴⁵ Searches of PubMed for exercise training intervention studies using the terms exercise and diabetes were performed. Criteria for the inclusion of studies in Table 2 were as follows: (1) The study was written in English; (2) it was published in August 2008 or earlier; (3) it included patients with T2DM only; (4) the study design included a nonexercise control group that did not receive intensive dietary therapy; (5) details of the randomized, controlled design were included; and (6) changes in glycemic control were assessed. Studies that included a separate or combined dietary component to the intervention were included; however, focus was placed on the exercise prescription of these studies. Improvements in glycemic control included improvements in hemoglobin (Hb) A_{1c}, blood glucose, insulin sensitivity, and glucose area under the curve during an oral glucose tolerance test, among others. Table 3 similarly outlines the exercise prescription and effects of randomized, controlled trials that have assessed the effect of exercise training on endothelial function and vascular structure and distensibility in patients with T2DM.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ Searches for these studies were identical to those performed for glycemic control, except that studies were selected that included vascular structure and function as outcome measures. Changes in vascular function included changes in endothelial function (eg, flow-mediated dilation), carotid artery intima-media thickness, and arterial distensibility. Tables 2 and 3 also report changes in body composition, body mass index, and Vo_{2max} when data are available. Briefly, exercise has favorable metabolic effects (glycemic control, weight loss), effects on other risk factors (lipids, hypertension), and direct vascular effects. However, despite a number of studies suggesting favorable effects on metabolic control and CVD risk factors, the net effect of these on clinical outcomes in T2DM is yet to be defined.

Glycemic Control

The effects of exercise on metabolic control have been an important focus of exercise prescription.⁴⁹ Previous studies have reported that exercise leads to improvements in metabolic control, measured by HbA_{1c}, blood glucose, or insulin sensitivity (Table 2) [I (A)]. Generally, studies that failed to elicit this benefit have utilized interventions of low intensity^{21,22} or low volume⁴¹ or have reported poor adherence to the intervention.⁴² Importantly, the definitive study on this to date, a randomized, controlled trial in 251 T2DM patients, reported improvements ranging from -0.38 to -0.97 percentage points in HbA_{1c} from exercise training that ranged

Table 2. Randomized, Controlled Exercise Training Intervention Studies in Patients With T2DM and Their Effect on Metabolic Control Figure 1

				Exercis				
First Author of Study	Year	Patients	Frequency	Intensity	Duration	Period	Туре	Effect
Wing ²¹	1988	25 T2DM	3 d/wk	3 mph	60 min/d	81/2 mo	Aerobic	 No improvement in glycemic contro No improvement in BMI
		30 T2DM	4 d/wk	3 mph	60 min/d	141/2 mo	Aerobic	 No improvement in glycemic contro Greater reduction in medication Reduction in BMI
Khan ²²	1995	39 Sedentary T2DM	5 d/wk	40%-60% Vo _{2max}	50 min/d	15 wk	Aerobic	 No improvement in glycemic contro Reduction in body fat Increase in Vo_{2max}
Agurs-Collins ²³	1997	64 Black T2DM	3 d/wk	Unspecified	30 min/d	6 mo	Aerobic	Improvement in glycemic controlReduction in body weightMaintained BP
Dunstan ²⁴	1997	55 Sedentary T2DM	3 d/wk	55%–65% V _{02max}	45 min/d	8 wk	Aerobic	 Prevented a deterioration in glycemic control Reduction in body weight Increase in Vo_{2max}
Honkola ²⁵	1997	38 Sedentary T2DM	2 d/wk	12–15 RM	Unspecified	5 mo	Resistance	Improvement in glycemic controlImprovement in blood lipid profile
Mourier ²⁶	1997	24 T2DM	3 d/wk	$75\% \ \dot{V}_{0_{2max}}$	45 min/d	8 wk	Aerobic & interval	Increase in insulin sensitivity
				50%–58% V _{02max}				 Increase in Vo_{2max} Decrease in abdominal fat
Dunstan ²⁷	1998	21 T2DM	3 d/wk	50%-55% 1RM	60 min/d	8 wk	Circuit resistance	Improvement in glycemic controlReduction in BMI
Tessier ²⁸	2000	39 Elderly T2DM	3 d/wk	60%-79% HR _{max}	60 min/d	16 wk	Aerobic & resistance	Improvement in glycemic controlIncrease in exercise capacity
Castaneda ²⁹	2002	62 T2DM	3 d/wk	60%–80% 1RM	45 min/d	16 wk	Resistance	 Improvement in glycemic control Increase muscle glycogen stores Reduction in T2DM medications No reduction in body weight No reduction in whole-body fat mass Reduction in trunk fat mass
Dunstan ³⁰	2002	36 Sedentary older T2DM	3 d/wk	75%–85% 1RM	45 min/d	6 mo	Resistance	 Improvement in glycemic control Increase in muscular strength Increase in lean mass
Maiorana ³¹	2002	16 T2DM	3 d/wk	70%–80% HR _{max} (aerobic)	60 min/d	8 wk	Aerobic & resistance	• Improvement in glycemic control
				55%–65% 1RM				 Reduction in body fat and waist-to-hip ratio Increase in exercise capacity
Tsujiuchi ³²	2002	26 T2DM	Unspecified	Unspecified	120 min/d	4 mo	Thai Chi	Improvement in glycemic control
Baldi ³³	2003	18 T2DM	3 d/wk	12 RM	Unspecified	10 wk	Resistance	 Improvement in blood glucose and insulin Increase in fat free mass Prevent increase in fat mass Increase in muscular strength
Cuff ³⁴	2003	28 Obese T2DM women	3 d/wk	60%–75% HRR, 12 RM	75 min/d	16 wk	Aerobic & resistance	 Increase in insulin sensitivity Reduction in body weight, abdominal obesity Increase in Vo_{2max}
			3 d/wk	60%–75% HRR	75 min/d	16 wk	Aerobic	 Reduction in body weight, abdominal obesity Increase in Vo_{2max}
								(Continued

Table 2. Continued

				Exercis				
First Author of Study	Year	Patients	Frequency	Intensity	Duration	Period	Туре	Effect
Di Loreto ³⁵	2003	340 T2DM	Unspecified	>10 MET.H	n/wk 2 y			Improvement in glycemic controlReduction in BMI
Dunstan ³⁶	2005	36 Sedentary older T2DM	3 d/wk	75%–85% 1RM	45 min/d	6 mo (1st Period)	Resistance	 Improvement in glycemic control Increase in muscular strength Increase in lean mass
			3 d/wk	75%–85% 1RM	45 min/d	6 mo (2nd Period)	Resistance	Failure to maintain improvement in glycemic controlMaintained strength gains
Kadoglou ³⁷	2007	95 T2DM	4 d/wk	50%-80% V _{02max}	45–60 min/d	8 mo	Aerobic	Improvement in glycemic control Increased Vo _{2max}
Kadoglou ³⁸	2007	60 Overweight T2DM	4 d/wk	50%–75% Vo _{2max}	45–60 min/d	6 mo	Aerobic	 Improvement in glycemic control Reduction in insulin resistance Improvement in antiinflammatory markers Improvement in blood lipid profile Increase in Vo_{2max} No change in body composition
Pi-Sunyer ³⁹	2007	5145 T2DM	Weekly to monthly	Moderate	175 min/wk	12 mo	Aerobic	 Improvement in glycemic control Decrease in BP Improvement in blood lipid profile
Sigal ⁴⁰	2007	251 T2DM	3 d/wk	75% HR_{max}	45 min/d	6 mo	Aerobic	 Improvement in glycemic control Reduction in BMI, waist circumference, fat mass Increase in muscle mass Improvement in glycemic control
			3 d/wk	7–9 RM	45 min/d	6 mo	Resistance	 Reduction in subcutaneous fat Increase in muscle mass
			3 d/wk	75% HR _{max} , 7–9 RM	90 min/d	6 mo	Aerobic & resistance	Greater improvement in glycemic control
Brun ⁴¹	2008	25 T2DM	2 d/wk	Ventilatory threshold	30–45 min/d	12 mo	Aerobic	 Increase in insulin sensitivity No change in body composition Maintained Vo_{2max}
Krousel-Wood ⁴²	2008	76 Sedentary T2DM	5 d/wk	3–6 METS	30 min/d	3 mo	Aerobic & resistance	 No improvement in glycemic control Trend towards improvement in BMI and quality of life
Nojima ⁴³	2008	134 T2DM	3 d/wk	$50\% \; \dot{V}_{0_{2max}}$	30 min/d	12 mo	Aerobic	 Improvement in glycemic control Reduction in oxidative stress Improvement in body composition Reduction in BP
Tsang ⁴⁴	2008	38 T2DM	2 d/wk	Light	60 min/d	16 wk	Thai Chi	No improvement in glycemic controlNo effect on body composition
Winnick ⁴⁵	2008	13 T2DM women	7 d/wk	60%–70% Vo _{2max}	50–60 min/d	7 d	Aerobic	 Improvement in whole-body insulin sensitivity but not hepatic insulin sensitivity

BMI indicates body mass index; Vo_{2max}, maximal cardiorespiratory fitness; BP, blood pressure; RM, repetition maximum; 1RM, 1 repetition maximum; HR_{max}, maximum heart rate; HRR, heart rate reserve; and MET, metabolic equivalents.

from ≈ 135 to 270 minutes of exercise per week for 6 months.⁴⁰ Quantification of effects across trials reveals that the overall beneficial effect of exercise on HbA_{1c} levels is modest (average HbA_{1c} reduction -0.8%, 90% confidence interval [CI] -1.3% to -0.2%)⁵⁰; however, even these small improvements have been reported to be clinically significant in terms of the effects on an aggregate composite of macrovascular, microvascular, and nonvascular end points, similar to what is produced from an intensive pharmaceutical intervention.¹⁷

In addition, previous research has reported improved insulin sensitivity/resistance and reductions in hyperglycemiarelated medications as a result of exercise training.^{34,51} These changes typically have been reported in obese subjects with T2DM,^{39,52–55} which suggests that there is a good relationship between loss of body fat and improved glycemic control.⁵⁶ However, improvement in glycemic control may be independent of fat loss.⁵¹ Moreover, patients with greater metabolic disturbances have shown the greatest improvement in

				Exerci	se Prescription			
First Author of Study	Year	Patients	Frequency	Intensity	Duration	Period	Туре	Effect
Maiorana ⁴⁶	2001	16 T2DM	3 d/wk	70%–80% HR _{max} (aerobic), 55%–65% 1RM	60 min/d	8 wk	Aerobic and resistance	 Improvement in endothelial function Improvement in glycemic control Increase in Vo_{2max}
Kim ⁴⁷	2006	58 T2DM			150 min/wk	6 mo	Aerobic	 Attenuated progression of carotid intima-media thickness Improvement in glycemic control, BP, body mass
Middlebrooke ⁴⁸	2006	59 T2DM	3 d/wk	70%-80% HR _{max}	30 min/d	6 mo		 No improvement in microvascular function No improvement in glycemic control, Vo_{2max}, or CVD risk factors

Table 3. Randomized, Controlled Exercise Training Intervention Studies in Patients With T2DM and the Effect on Vascular Structure and Function

glycemic control.⁵⁷ Other potential mechanisms for better glucose control include improvement in insulin sensitivity^{58,59} and effects on glucose transporters (eg, GLUT4).^{60–64} Muscle contractions can elicit movement of glucose transporters (GLUT4) to the plasma membrane independently of insulin,^{65–67} and it is further speculated that muscle hypertrophy^{30,40,51,68} and blood flow⁶⁹ are also contributing mechanisms.

Body Composition

Exercise improves and maintains cardiorespiratory fitness, muscular strength, endurance, and body composition (Table 2) [I (A)]. Again, quantification of effects across trials shows modest reductions in body mass (average -5.1%, 90% CI -7.6% to -2.5%) and body fat (average -15%, 90% CI -26% to -2%).⁵⁰ Moreover, improvements in body composition may not be a precondition for the beneficial effect of endurance training, most likely because this reduces visceral fat.26 Indeed, loss in body fat alone, achieved through liposuction, fails to improve T2DM and other risk parameters, which emphasizes mediation of the benefits of weight loss through the metabolic effects of exercise,70 because liposuction would not alter visceral adiposity. Because weight loss is related to energy expenditure, aerobic exercise training has greater potential to yield results than resistance training, although studies have reported beneficial effects on weight loss and body composition from both modes of training.^{30,33,40} However, although there are studies that have reported these benefits as a result of exercise training, not all of the studies have shown improvements in body composition. This may be due to the different methods used to assess body composition (eg, body mass index, weight, or fat mass), different training regimens (ie, aerobic versus resistance), and potentially the inclusion or lack of a dietary component to accompany the intervention.

Risk Factors

Exercise has a favorable effect on cardiovascular risk factors. In particular, it has specific beneficial effects on the reduction of hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and obesity and the improvement in blood lipid profile,^{71,72} even when combined with a rigorous calorie-restricted diet in obese patients with T2DM [II (A)].³⁹ Many trials have shown the reduction in

systolic (average -5.6 mm Hg, 90% CI -9.3 to -1.8 mm Hg) and diastolic (average -5.5 mm Hg, 90% CI -9.9 to -1.1 mm Hg) blood pressure to be in the range associated with prognostic benefit.⁷³ Modest reductions in triglycerides (average -26.6 mg/dL [-0.3 mmol/L], 90% CI -124.0 to 70.9 mg/dL) and small increases in high-density lipoprotein (average 5.0 mg/dL [0.13 mmol/L], 90% CI 2.7 to 7.7 mg/dL)⁷² are less clearly associated with prognostic benefit.

Vascular Effects

The effects of exercise training on abnormal vascular structure and function (including endothelial dysfunction and vascular distensibility) associated with T2DM are yet to be fully understood. Table 3 summarizes recent human studies, some of which show beneficial effects. Furthermore, another study, without a nonexercise control group, showed no effect on endothelial function in T2DM patients with severe chronic heart failure, in whom the intervention lasted for only 4 weeks.⁷⁴ However, in this same investigation, the authors reported improvements in exercise capacity, left ventricular ejection fraction, and left ventricular stroke volume over the training period.

Myocardial Function

To date, the effect of exercise training on myocardial function generally has been limited to animal models of T2DM. Most of these involve 5 days per week of exercise over an 8- to 10-week period and involve treadmill training at 20 to 30 m/min. These studies have uniformly shown that exercise training resistance to ischemia and favorable metabolic effects.^{75–84} A recent study showed that weight loss in patients enrolled in an exercise program may have a beneficial effect on myocardial function, but the relative roles of exercise and weight loss require further definition.⁸⁵

Development of CVD

Inactivity is associated with reduced survival in T2DM, irrespective of weight level⁸⁶ and other risk factors.⁸⁷ The inverse association of moderate-intensity physical activity with the development of coronary atherosclerosis, as evidenced by coronary calcification, has been demonstrated in patients without

	For	Against
Detection of some patients with severe (left main and/or 3-vessel) CAD	Patients with silent CAD may include those with prognostically important CAD who are candidates for revascularization therapy	No published data demonstrating that screening for CAD in asymptomatic diabetic patients results in improved outcomes in this population and 1 randomized trial demonstrating no effect on clinical outcomes (DIAD) ⁹⁶
Identification of more minor CAD	Recognition of CAD could lead to more intensive treatment of risk factors	Existing recommendations in T2DM already recommend more aggressive treatment of hypertension and lipids simply on the basis of T2DM status and do not require the demonstration of CAD ^{97,98}
Identification of low risk	Available stress imaging modalities can risk-stratify symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with T2DM	Identification of a truly low-risk subset with T2DM is difficult. ⁹⁹ Annual rates of cardiovascular death and MI or total mortality with normal or low-risk images are 2% to 6% in retrospective studies. ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰²
Use in exercise prescription	Identification of patients with myocardial ischemia may be of value in instructing these patients to keep their target heart rate below their ischemic threshold	
Cost-effectiveness		80% of the 18 million diabetic patients in the United States do not have established CAD, ¹⁰³ which leads to many negative test results

MI indicates myocardial infarction; DIAD, Detection of Ischemia in Asymptomatic Diabetics.

T2DM.⁸⁸ The combined effects of exercise on metabolism, risk factors, and vascular function have been proposed to be beneficial in T2DM,⁸⁹ but it is unclear to what extent this can be expected to reduce the prevalence of atherosclerotic CVD.

3. Cardiac Risks of Exercise Training in T2DM

Generic Cardiac Risks of Training

The risk of a major cardiac event during exercise is small,⁹⁰ and even in heart failure patients, who are recognized as being at high risk, no deaths have been reported during exercise in the course of an exercise training study (>80 000 patient-hours).⁹¹ The overall balance of benefit of exercise substantially exceeds its risk in unselected subjects,⁹² although this balance has not been defined in patients with T2DM. The major concern relates to whether exercise may be either limited or hazardous because of occult coronary artery disease. Whether exercise limitation due to undiagnosed left ventricular dysfunction may be improved by exercise training remains undefined.

Screening for Coronary Artery Disease

The office attendance of a patient with T2DM for advice regarding exercise is an opportunity for lifestyle modification and general health screening. These patients should undergo a thorough history and physical examination before pursuing an exercise program. Patients with symptoms suggestive of coronary artery disease (CAD) should be evaluated appropriately, irrespective of T2DM status.^{93,94}

The investigation of asymptomatic patients for CAD is a vexing topic. The use of screening before an exercise program might be justifiable on 2 grounds but remains unproven. First, the identification of occult CAD might identify patients who are at risk from exercise, but the risks of exercise are minimal. Second, CAD is more prevalent, cardiovascular event rates are higher, and myocardial ischemia is more often silent in patients with rather than those without T2DM.⁹⁵ Patients with advanced CAD may derive prognostic benefit from coronary

revascularization, but this is unproven in subjects with T2DM, in whom revascularization targets may be suboptimal. Several arguments have been proposed in favor of and against such a program (Table 4).^{96–103} Perhaps the least favorable aspect is that screening for CAD represents an additional barrier to exercise in an overweight and deconditioned group among whom barriers to exercise need to be reduced.

Prior Studies of CAD Screening

A number of studies with standard exercise (treadmill or cycle ergometry) testing, nuclear or echocardiographic stress imaging, and, more recently, computed tomography for detection of coronary artery calcification (CAC) have given a range of results for screening for CAD in asymptomatic T2DM patients. Many of these studies had methodological limitations, including small numbers of patients, enrollment of highly selected patients, retrospective design, or poorly described or outdated stress testing techniques (eg, planar thallium imaging). Many studies have been performed with pharmacological stress, which is less potent than exercise stress and may provide less prognostic information than obtained with exercise testing. However, the biggest problem is a probabilistic one: The limited return of studies in low-risk patients is well exemplified by the Milan Study on Atherosclerosis and Diabetes (MiSAD), which identified only 3 fatal myocardial infarctions and 20 nonfatal myocardial infarctions in a follow-up study of a subset of 735 of these patients over 5 years.¹⁰⁴

The published studies of stress imaging that involved 500 or more asymptomatic patients with T2DM but without known CAD are summarized in Table 5.^{96,102,105–107} Two retrospectively designed studies, which included patients with abnormal resting electrocardiograms (ECGs), reported abnormal stress single-photon emission computed tomography images in 39%¹⁰⁵ and 58%¹⁰² of patients, respectively, and suggested that this test was useful for risk stratification. In contrast, in the prospectively designed Detection of Ischemia in Asymptomatic Diabetics (DIAD) study, which excluded patients with abnormal resting

First Author	Year	Design	Patients	Age, y	Men, %	Diabetes Duration, y	Abnormal ECG Excluded	Type of Stress	Results
MiSAD Group ¹⁰⁷	1997	Prospective asymptomatic	925	54±6	64	7.4±6.0	Yes (if echocardiographic confirmation)	Exercise ECG followed by exercise planar TI-201 if equivocal or positive	Exercise test abnormal 12% (112/925); exercise TI-201 abnormal in 53% (59/112)
Zellweger ¹⁰⁵	2004	Retrospective symptomatic/ asymptomatic	826	65±12	57		No	Exercise SPECT 54%; adenosine SPECT 46%	Abnormal 39%
Rajagopalan ¹⁰²	2005	Retrospective asymptomatic	1427	60±14	70	10 (Median)	No (ECG Q wave 9%, ST-T abnormality 34%)	Exercise SPECT 52%; SPECT 48%	Abnormal 58%; high-risk 18%
Wackers (DIAD)96	2004	Prospective asymptomatic	522	61±7	53	8.1±7.1	Yes	Low-level exercise adenosine SPECT	Abnormal 22%; 16% abnormal SPECT
Scognamiglio ¹⁰⁶	2006	Prospective asymptomatic	1899	52±7	67	9±6	Yes	Dipyridamole myocardial contrast echocardiogram	Abnormal 59%

SPECT indicates single-photon emission computed tomography; MiSAD, Milan Study on Atherosclerosis and Diabetes; and T1-201, thallium 201.

ECGs,⁹⁶ the yield of abnormal studies was only 22% (16% with perfusion abnormalities and 6% with stress ECG or ventricular function abnormalities). Myocardial contrast echocardiography was abnormal in 60% of patients in a large, prospectively designed echocardiographic study¹⁰⁶ that excluded patients with abnormal resting ECGs; 65% of these had significant anatomic CAD (stenoses >50%) at angiography.

The limited number of studies that have examined the value of computed tomography for detection of CAC in asymptomatic T2DM patients have shown that a majority of the population had at least some CAC (Table 6).^{108–111} The percentages of patients with Agatston CAC scores >100 were 31% to 53%, and CAC scores >400 were found in 12% to 27%. In a prospectively designed study that used a sequential imaging strategy of computed tomography in all patients followed by stress single-photon emission computed tomography in those with CAC >100 (27% of the population), Anand et al¹¹¹ reported that 39% had mild to moderate perfusion abnormalities. Race clearly has an effect on the prevalence of subclinical abnormalities in CAC. In a Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis substudy of 204 white,

387 black, 311 Hispanic, and 126 Chinese individuals with T2DM in which the overall prevalence of CAC was 62%, the highest prevalence of measurable CAC was in whites (78%), followed by Chinese (68%), Hispanics (58%), and blacks (54%). High scores (CAC >400, 17% of the total) followed a similar pattern of prevalence, with 24%, 20%, 15%, and 14% of white, Chinese, Hispanic, and black participants, respectively, having high scores.¹¹² In 2 studies that collected follow-up data,^{110,111} the CAC score was associated with patient outcome; however, a smaller study (n=269) reported that CAC scores were not predictive of outcome in T2DM.¹¹³

Guidelines/Position Statements

The results of the above studies do not clarify in a definitive manner which asymptomatic diabetic patients should be screened for CAD. Publications by both the American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA)^{93,94} and the American Diabetes Association (ADA)^{114,115} address the screening of asymptomatic diabetic patients for CAD in general, as well as before pursuing an exercise program. In

Table 6.	Results of Electron Beam Co	mputed Tomography	Screening for CAD in Patients With T2DM
10010 01	noouno or moon on bouin oo	inputou romography	corocinity for one in radiona man replin

First Author	Year	Design	Patients	Age, y	Men, %	Diabetes Duration, y	Abnormal ECG Excluded	Type of Examination	Results
Hoff ¹⁰⁸	2003	Retrospective	1075	55±9	69		No	EBCT	CAC >0: M 90%, W 75%; ≥75th percentile: M 39%, W 40%
Elkeles (PREDICT) ¹⁰⁹	2004	Prospective	495	63±7	68	8 (Median)	No	EBCT	CAC >0: 94%; >100: 53%; >400: 27%
Raggi ¹¹⁰	2004	Retrospective	903	57±10	57		No	EBCT	CAC >0: 70%; >100: 40%; >400: 20%
Anand ¹¹¹	2006	Prospective	510	53±8	61	8±6	Yes	EBCT followed by exercise plus dipyridamole SPECT if CAC >100	CAC <10: 54%; >100: 31%; >400: 12%. Abnormal SPECT in 39% with CAC >100; 60% if CAC >400

PREDICT indicates Prospective Evaluation of Diabetic Ischemic Heart Disease by Computed Tomography; EBCT, electron beam computed tomography; M, men; and W, women.

Stress Testing Not Necessary (All Criteria Should Be Present)	Stress Testing Recommended (if \geq 1 Criteria Present)
No clinical history of CAD	History of CAD; no stress test within past 2 years
Asymptomatic	Symptoms of chest discomfort or dyspnea
No evidence of PAD or CVD	Clinical or laboratory evidence of PAD or cerebrovascular disease
ECG normal	ECG evidence of infarction or ischemia
Light to moderate exercise program	Vigorous exercise program

Table 7. Guidelines for Stress Testing Before Exercise Training in Asymptomatic Individuals With T2DM [IIb (C)]

PAD indicates peripheral arterial disease.

the general setting, the ACC/AHA guidelines classify the screening of asymptomatic persons with multiple risk factors (including patients with T2DM) as a class IIb indication (usefulness/efficacy not well established by evidence/opinion). Recommendations from the ADA are more aggressive and state that stress testing is indicated in the presence of prevalent cerebral or peripheral arterial disease, abnormal ECG (ST-T abnormalities, ischemia, or infarction), and ≥ 2 risk factors. In the specific setting of assessment before an exercise program is begun, both the ACC/AHA and the ADA recommend that an exercise stress test be performed (ACC/AHA guidelines as a class IIa indication, weight of evidence/opinion is in favor of usefulness/efficacy) before a vigorous exercise program is started.

The published data do not indicate precisely which asymptomatic patients with T2DM should undergo screening. Clearly, more data, preferably generated from randomized trials, are needed, but because it is unlikely that such data will become available for several years, the following recommendations (Table 7) are based on published expert opinion. For patients with T2DM who wish to pursue an exercise program based on low to moderate exercise intensity, a stress test should not be necessary in the absence of high-risk clinical or ECG features. A stress test may be recommended before a patient with known (symptomatic or previously diagnosed) CAD begins an exercise program if there is a change in clinical status or no recent (<2 years) stress test. In the patient with T2DM but no history of CAD, a stress test might be recommended if there are symptoms (chest pain or exertional dyspnea), if there is a suspicion of CAD, with clinical findings indicative of peripheral arterial or cerebrovascular disease, with ECG findings indicative of infarction or ischemia, or if the patient is planning to pursue a vigorous exercise program.

The type of stress test should be an exercise test (usually on the treadmill) whenever possible, because the results can be used to refine the exercise prescription. Patients with an uninterpretable resting ECG (left bundle-branch block, ventricular pacing, preexcitation, or major ST-T abnormalities) should undergo stress imaging,^{93,94} and those who are incapable of leg exercise should undergo pharmacological stress imaging; these individuals are at particularly high risk. Although patients with ischemia at a low workload should generally be referred for coronary angiography, those with ischemia at a high workload in whom no additional testing is planned can be provided with an exercise prescription. The exercise heart rate should be maintained at least 10 bpm below the ischemic threshold.

3251

4. Noncardiac Risks of Exercise Training in T2DM

Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia occurs less commonly in insulin-treated T2DM than in type 1 diabetes mellitus, although >70% of subjects report an episode of hypoglycemia, with an incidence of 0.28 episodes per patient per year.¹¹⁶ Severe hypoglycemia is closely related to the frequency of low blood glucose readings (eg, <3.5 mmol/L), which is somewhat associated with the acute blood glucose–lowering effect of exercise.¹¹⁷ Patients who are most at risk include those with low and variable glucose measurements, longer T2DM duration, lower body mass index, and impaired awareness of hypoglycemia. Although concern is often focused on insulin-treated patients with T2DM, the risk of hypoglycemia is also present with insulin secretagogues, including sulfonylureas (eg, glyburide, glipizide) and meglitinides (eg, repaglinide, nateglinide).

The self-monitoring of blood glucose is the most effective means of anticipating and avoiding hypoglycemic episodes during exercise.¹¹⁸ Prevention of hypoglycemia in subjects taking insulin may be based on increased carbohydrate intake, insulin dosage reduction, or both. Adequate replacement of carbohydrate has been proposed as the most effective strategy for most forms of exercise, although the risk with prolonged exercise (>60 minutes) is reduced with a 20% to 30% reduction of insulin dosage. A program for prevention of hypoglycemia with physical activity of different intensity and duration recently has been proposed for use in type 1 diabetes mellitus.¹¹⁹ Recent work in young subjects with insulintreated, complication-free type 1 diabetes mellitus has shown that a brief maximal sprint after moderate-intensity exercise can oppose a further fall in blood glucose levels,¹²⁰ but the efficacy and feasibility of this have not been studied in older subjects. Guidance on this matter is limited in T2DM. In the Look AHEAD (Action for Health in Diabetes) trial (a multicenter, randomized trial of lifestyle intervention designed to achieve and maintain weight loss over the long term), treatment at entry into a lifestyle program (including increased physical activity and hypocaloric diet) is altered in accordance with how well the subjects had their diabetes controlled before they entered the program.¹²¹ Patients with very tight control, defined by ≥ 3 blood glucose measurements <80 mg/dL, and those with frequent (>2/week) symptomatic hypoglycemic episodes have their dosages of hypoglycemic medications cut by 50% to 100%, according to the physician's judgment. Those with modest control have 25% to 50% reductions in medications, whereas subjects with usual blood glucose readings >100 mg/dL have no or very limited change in medications.

Peripheral Arterial Disease and Foot Care

Limb vessel disease in T2DM may involve conduit vessels, small vessels, or both. Although benefits of training have

Mode of Exercise	Frequency	Intensity	Duration	Class and Level of Evidence
Cardiorespiratory (large-muscle activities)	3–7 d/wk	Moderate intensity OR	150 min/wk	I (A)
Cardiorespiratory (large-muscle activities)	3 d/wk	Vigorous intensity AND ENCOURAGE	90 min/wk	I (A)
Resistance (large-muscle group, multijoint exercises)	3 d/wk	Moderate to high intensity: 2–4 sets of 8–10 repetitions at a weight that cannot be lifted >8–10 times, with 1–2 minute rest periods between sets		I (A)

Table 8.	Summary	of Exercise	Prescription	for	Patients	With	T2DM

been identified in peripheral arterial disease,¹²² attention should be paid to minimizing the risk of foot trauma.

Walking exposes the feet to impact forces, and although plantar pressure is variable between people, it is an important contributor to the development and maintenance of foot ulceration, especially in subjects with neurovascular disease. It might be considered paradoxical, therefore, that active individuals are less likely to develop foot ulceration; this probably reflects better glycemic control and vascular function in active individuals.¹²³ Indeed, when foot ulceration does occur, it appears to be associated with greater variability in activity, and it is possible that a feedback system to reduce this variability might decrease the risk for ulceration.

An established strategy of injury prevention relates to the avoidance of high-impact activity. Reduction of load may be attained by reduction of walking speed, reduction of weight bearing (eg, by aquatic exercise, cycle ergometry, recumbent cycle ergometry, careful selection of footwear, or use of prostheses to transfer load from affected areas to other areas of the foot or the lower leg), and steps to alter foot rollover during gait.¹²⁴ Furthermore, regular inspection of the feet by the patient and their partner may be useful. Some new approaches may prove useful; for example, monitoring of skin temperature (temperatures elevated >4°F compared with the opposite foot) may be a marker of inflammation and risk of ulceration, and the restriction of activity at times of inflammation may prevent ulceration.¹²⁵

Microvascular Disease

Individualized exercise recommendations are required not only in patients with peripheral arterial disease but also in those with microvascular disease.¹²⁶ Individuals with proliferative retinopathy should avoid anaerobic exercise or activities that may result in a Valsalva maneuver.¹²⁶ Current recommendations do not call for activity restrictions in individuals with nephropathy.¹²⁷ Severe peripheral neuropathy, however, may increase the risk of skin ulceration and development of Charcot joint, and individuals with this condition should not engage in weight-bearing exercise.¹²⁷

5. Exercise Training Guidelines

Exercise advice should be a component of prevention advice in every patient encounter in patients with T2DM. The primary care environment (physicians, physician's assistants, advanced practice nurses, and diabetes educators) is the logical first location for education on activity in T2DM.^{128–131} Advice received from primary care clinicians is likely to be followed.^{132–134} Unfortunately, the lack of specific guidance about prescribing an exercise training program for primary care physicians is a major limitation.^{135,136} Alternatively, providers should refer patients to an appropriate clinical exercise physiologist who has the specific skills and knowledge to apply exercise training principles to the T2DM population. In most circumstances in the United States, physician referral is required to access reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid, and most commercial insurance plans. In other countries, supervision by an exercise physiologist is a component of a chronic disease management plan.

Patients with T2DM who were previously sedentary should aim to accumulate a minimum energy expenditure of 1000 kcal/wk.^{137,138} This equates to the current physical activity guidelines for physical activity and public health of a minimum of 30 minutes of accumulated moderate-intensity physical activity on 5 days of the week139; however, higher levels of energy expenditure have the potential to yield greater benefits.⁴⁰ Table 8 summarizes the exercise recommendations for patients with T2DM. To improve cardiovascular risk, it is recommended that patients with T2DM accumulate a minimum of 150 min/wk of at least moderate-intensity physical activity and/or 90 min/wk of at least vigorous-intensity cardiorespiratory exercise [I (A)]. Additionally, resistance training 3 times per week should be encouraged [I (A)]. These guidelines can be achieved with varying contributions of moderate-tovigorous cardiorespiratory exercise. For example, patients may exercise for 20 minutes at a vigorous intensity twice per week and for an additional 30 minutes at moderate intensity on 2 more occasions that same week. Exercise should be completed on at least 3 days per week, with there being no more than 2 consecutive days without training [I (A)]. During the resistance exercises, all muscle groups should be used, and patients need to progress to 8 to 10 repetitions per set for a total of 3 sets. An increase in other lifestyle activities should also be encouraged.140 Contraindications and complications (discussed previously) need to be accounted for in the individual prescription of exercise for patients with T2DM. Table 9 details the classification of different intensities of exercise. This table should be used to define the intensity of exercise being performed according to different measures.

If the recommended levels of exercise cannot be achieved for various medical and personal reasons, some benefits are still likely to occur in patients who achieve lesser amounts of exercise [I (B)]. Although there is limited evidence supporting the role of low levels of exercise in improving cardiovascular function, the reductions in risk associated with limited

Table 9.	Classification of Exercise Intensity, Based on	
Exercise I	asting up to 60 Minutes	

		iorespiratory nce-Type Tr	Resistance-Type Training Maximal Voluntary Contraction, % (1RM)		
Intensity	V₀₂R (%) HRR (%)	,			
Very light	<20	<35	<10	<30	
Light	20–39	35–54	10–11	30–49	
Moderate	40–59	55–69	12–13	50–69	
Hard (vigorous)	60–84	70–89	14–16	70–84	
Very hard	≥85	≥90	17–19	≥85	
Maximal	100	100	20	100	

 $\dot{V}o_2R$ indicates oxygen uptake reserve; HRR, heart rate reserve; HR $_{max},$ maximum heart rate; RPE, rating of perceived exertion; and 1RM, maximum weight that can be lifted in 1 repetition.

Adapted from the American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand.¹⁴¹ *Based on 8 to 12 repetitions for persons under age 50 to 60 years and 10

to 15 repetitions for persons 50 to 60 years old and older.

+Borg rating of perceived exertion, scale ranging from 6 to 20.

amounts of exercise are likely to be better for the individual than remaining completely sedentary, at least on the basis of evidence in other populations.¹⁴² Further, new data available suggest that greater levels of exercise than these guidelines may be required to improve myocardial function,^{142a} although as yet this hypothesis remains untested.

Preparation for Exercise

Many individuals, particularly older individuals with T2DM, are deconditioned and have limited strength and flexibility. Engagement in any activity may be made more challenging by the presence of osteoarthritis, obesity, and peripheral or autonomic neuropathy. In addition, a goal of 30 minutes of activity during a single session may not be achievable and may deter these individuals from any participation. Shorter, more frequent periods of brisk activity may be better tolerated. This approach, in combination with resistance exercise, may allow many individuals to gradually increase their level of endurance to achieve the recommended goals. Sedentary individuals should always initiate exercise programs at a low level and gradually increase the intensity of exercise [IIa (C)].

All individuals with T2DM should be educated about the typical and atypical symptoms of myocardial ischemia and instructed to report these symptoms to their care provider if they occur. Patients with T2DM may have reduced circulation, and often, this is exacerbated by poor vascular function or atherosclerosis.^{143,144} A good warm-up promotes blood supply via vasodilation of blood vessels in and around the exercising muscle. Preparation for exercise should also include considerations regarding hydration and foot care,¹⁴⁴ as discussed above.

Frequency

Different exercise frequencies may have differential effects on various metabolic aspects of T2DM. Frequent exercise has the potential to maintain the acute increases in insulinmediated and insulin-independent glucose uptake. However, a high volume of exercise is not necessary to improve glycemic control, nor does total weekly energy expenditure appear to influence either aerobic capacity or HbA_{1c}.¹⁴⁵ These acute benefits on glycemic control can last up to 48 to 72 hours after exercise^{58,146,147} and appear to be cumulative in nature,¹⁴⁸ so even twice-weekly training periods may favorably influence control,^{149,150} although more frequent training is recommended. The effect of detraining in patients with T2DM has been shown to be rapid,¹⁵¹ which further stresses the importance of long-term exercise maintenance.

3253

Weight loss is related to exercise dose (or caloric expenditure) and may produce additional improvements with regard to glycemic control and CVD risk factors; however, improvements in both CVD risk factors and glycemic control have been seen without the concomitant decrease in body mass index.⁵¹ A high frequency of exercise training will maximize caloric expenditure (with benefits for weight management and other CVD risk factors), and daily exercise sessions are recommended for weight loss.¹⁵²

Patients with T2DM should exercise a minimum of 3 days each week. More frequent exercise training (ie, 5 days per week or more) may maximize both the acute glucose-lowering effect and the effect on CVD [II (B)].

Intensity

Many studies have shown positive health benefits with moderate-intensity exercise.24,28,55,72,153 Greater intensities of exercise tend to yield even greater benefits,154 particularly changes in HbA1c and aerobic capacity.26 Very high intensities of cardiorespiratory exercise (eg, 75% of Vo_{2max}) have been associated with considerable improvements in HbA_{1c} and cardiorespiratory fitness, but such demanding exercise intensities may not be well tolerated in all patients with T2DM. Despite this, higher intensities of resistance exercise have been shown to be well tolerated and produce positive benefits in patients with T2DM.^{29,30} This suggests that even patients who already exercise at moderate levels should be encouraged to increase their intensity of exercise, although as indicated, a recent meta-analysis of 6 studies showed that exercise intensity of <70% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ still yielded improvements in Vo2max, glycemic control and CVD risk factors in T2DM.145 Caution should be applied to prescribing walking, because it can easily be performed at lower intensities. In such cases, the intensity must be brisk and must be regarded as an exercise walk rather than simply as a walk. Vigorous intensities should be targeted if tolerated and with consideration of contraindications. To maintain the required intensity of resistance training, patients should increase the weight lifted progressively if they successfully perform an additional 2 repetitions above what is intended.

In consideration of the duration of exercise performed, higher intensities of exercise may allow for shorter durations while still performing the same volume of exercise, because effects appear to be related to total energy expenditure.¹⁵⁵ Furthermore, high-intensity exercise has shown to be more effective in reversing left ventricular remodeling in heart failure patients,¹⁵⁶ increasing cardiomyocyte contractility in rat models (without T2DM),¹⁵⁷ and improving aerobic capacity and risk factors in patients with metabolic syndrome.¹⁵⁸ The application of this training in T2DM remains unknown, and research is warranted.

Duration

The duration of the exercise prescription can be divided into the duration of each exercise session, as well as the period of training required to have a desired effect.

Session Duration

Patients with T2DM should accumulate a minimum of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity exercise or 90 minutes of vigorous-intensity exercise each week [I (A)]. The duration of each individual session can vary, although the aim should be a minimum of 10 minutes per session.^{154,159} Longer sessions (30 to 90 minutes) have typically been used in intervention studies,¹⁴⁷ although recent research has indicated that 3 short sessions (30 minutes) per day may be preferable to longer sessions (30 minutes) with regard to glycemic control in patients with T2DM [IIa (B)].

Program Duration

Beneficial effects have been reported over short durations. Improvements in arterial stiffness and insulin resistance (measured by the clamp technique) have been documented after only 3 weeks of aerobic exercise training, despite the lack of measurable changes in anthropometric factors (body mass index or body fat).¹⁶⁰ Thus, improvement in glycemic control and CVD seen in T2DM are not dependent on changes in body composition, because these typically require >3 weeks of intervention. However, to maintain a long-term effect, any lifestyle changes need to become permanent.¹⁴⁵

Туре

Both aerobic and resistance training have important roles in T2DM.⁴⁹ Recent work comparing the individual and combined effects of aerobic and/or resistance training revealed that both forms of exercise were equally beneficial for glycemic control, although aerobic training had a greater effect on body composition (except with regard to increasing muscle cross-sectional area).⁴⁰ The combination of both forms of training was twice as effective for improving glycemic control. Caution should be used when interpreting these results given double the volume of exercise performed in the combined training. It is recommended that patients with T2DM perform both aerobic and resistance training.

Aerobic

For most patients with T2DM, the goal of exercise is to increase energy expenditure, and this is directly related to the amount of muscle mass used during exercise. For this reason, exercises that use a large muscle mass and those that can be performed safely offer the best results for T2DM patients. Aerobic exercises such as walking and cycling are typically included in this category.

There are strong correlations between changes in aerobic fitness ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$) and improvements in glycemic control and insulin sensitivity.¹⁵³ These effects may be mediated via changes in visceral adiposity.⁵⁵ However, not all studies have been able to show positive effects of aerobic exercise training on glycemic control,^{21,22} and this may pertain to levels of exercise intensity or compliance.

The main advantages of swimming training are that nonweight-bearing exercise can minimize the limitations of exercise caused by obesity and poor foot care. For example, obese individuals often have joint pain due to heavier loads placed on them while walking or running, and thus lowimpact environments, such as in a pool, enable the effective performance of intense exercise. However, the effect of swimming per se, as a mode of exercise, has not been assessed in patients with T2DM.

Resistance

Resistance training has been shown to induce a hypertrophic response and a muscle-fiber type shift in exercising muscles,¹⁶¹ which allows for a potential increase in wholebody glucose utilization. A consequent increase in GLUT4 proteins may in turn improve glycemic control.¹⁶² However, it is debatable whether a training effect would have a chronic influence on GLUT4 expression, because it has been reported that GLUT4 protein content decreases rapidly (within 40 hours), even after 5 weeks of training. This is attributed to the short-half life of the protein (≈ 8 to 10 hours).¹⁶³ An increased capillaryto-muscle ratio further favors improved glucose control.⁵¹ The use of resistance training to improve glycemic control in T2DM is supported by the American College of Sports Medicine and ADA position statements.49,127,164 Furthermore, the potential benefits of increases in muscle mass on body composition^{30,150} and other CVD risk factors^{25,27,29,68} have also been reported.

Unlike aerobic training, higher intensities of resistance training (3 sets of 8 to 10 repetitions at 75% to 85% of 1 repetition maximum) have not only shown benefits but also have been well tolerated by patients with T2DM [I (B)].^{29,30} However, for some patients, lower exercise intensities may be more appropriate [IIa (C)].

6. Approaches to Adherence

Health Behavior

As with other lifestyle interventions, patient commitment to exercise training in T2DM is preceded by contemplation and a willingness to move forward in the change process through preparation, action, and maintenance of behavioral change.165 It is clear from behavioral research that a variety of factors contribute to the adoption of healthy exercise patterns, including perceived barriers and benefits, self-efficacy (ie, patients' perceived ability to affect their own life) or competence, motivation, past experiences, social support, access, and provider support, as well as the presence of anxiety and depression.^{166–171} Additionally, strategies that have shown to be effective include the use of ongoing, individual counseling; exercise consultation; group support; stress management; coping skills training; and motivational interviewing techniques.172-178 Community-based interventions aimed at increasing levels of physical activity, including some with T2DM, have been shown to be successful.¹⁷⁹

The use of a World Wide Web–based program has increased the number of patients with a readiness for exercise, as well as improving physical activity, blood glucose profiles, glycemic control, and cardiorespiratory fitness.¹⁸⁰ Selfefficacy is a trait that appears to be strongly associated with successful adoption of an exercise program.¹⁸¹ A strategy that has been shown to be effective in other situations, such as cardiac risk factor intervention, has been the use of patients as coaches.¹⁸²

Counseling

Physical activity advice may be particularly pertinent for patients with T2DM given that they comply less with physical activity recommendations.183 As with all lifestyle modification strategies, counseling is of pivotal importance and has been studied widely; however, the evidence for its efficacy is less than that for lifestyle advice in curtailing smoking and alcohol abuse and even dietary advice.184 Numerous training studies have shown beneficial effects of supervised exercise training in patients with T2DM; however, the feasibility of this approach long-term is questionable.¹⁸⁵ Home-based exercise training with exercise counseling offers convenience, flexibility, cost-effectiveness, and greater general appeal in population settings. Other previous work has suggested that exercise adherence is difficult to maintain outside of formal class or group settings, particularly in patients with T2DM.186 However, given appropriate counseling, supervision, support, and motivation, this is not necessarily the case.187

Telephone exercise counseling after a period of gym-based training was reasonably effective in maintaining exercise compliance in previous work, improving glycemic control, body habitus, and functional capacity in patients with T2DM compared with control subjects.142a Other work has shown that a similar approach can increase physical activity levels, maintain exercise compliance, and improve cardiorespiratory fitness in previously sedentary but healthy individuals.187-189 One of the other few studies to assess the effect of telephone exercise counseling in patients with T2DM reported 63% compliance (20 to 30 minutes of walking, 4 to 6 days per week for 17.2 months).¹⁹⁰ Patients who failed to comply with the regimen (exercising ≤ 3 days per week) had a 10-fold increase in CVD (assessed by clinical symptoms and diagnostic procedures) compared with those who did comply. Another study showed that patients with T2DM failed to maintain the improvements in glycemic control seen during gym-based resistance training for 6 months when training continued at home for an additional 6 months, despite regular (weekly, then fortnightly) telephone exercise counseling.³⁶ There has been previous work that suggested that telephone exercise counseling combined with face-to-face consultations can increase physical activity levels, improve glycemic control, and improve metabolic function,^{35,191} although not all studies have shown this approach to be effective.192

Advice regarding physical activity may not need to be provided by a physician and could be given by a physician's assistants, exercise specialists, advanced practice nurses, or diabetes educators.¹⁹³ Both the original advice and the subsequent follow-up are important, with 1 study showing improved physical activity and metabolic sequelae in response to baseline counseling and follow-up phone calls after 1, 3, 6, and 9 months.¹⁹¹ There is also evidence to suggest that once an exercise program has been established, the frequency of contact may not need to be maintained.^{187,188} Because the

prevalence of both anxiety and depression is high in the population with T2DM, and their presence may interfere with engagement in physical activity, psychological assessment should be routine, and referral for psychiatric care should be provided when appropriate.

Long-Term Efficacy

Unfortunately, the long-term efficacy of behavioral weight loss and weight control interventions in adults with T2DM is not well defined. In a meta-analysis, the pooled weight loss for any intervention was 1.7 kg (95% CI 0.3 to 3.2 kg), or 3% of baseline body weight,¹⁹⁴ although the control groups in these trials also frequently lost weight. As a consequence, improvements in glycemic control (evidenced by HbA_{1c}), which generally corresponded to changes in weight, were small once between-group differences were examined. The Look AHEAD trial is expected to provide guidance on this issue when it is completed.

7. Special/Minority Groups

Ethnicity and gender have an important influence on physical activity. Women are often reluctant to enroll in training programs for other indications, such as heart failure.⁹¹ However, favorable effects of exercise programs are reported in women.¹⁹⁵ The incidence of T2DM and associated complications has been reported to be higher in the black population and indigenous groups around the world.³ Particular attention should be directed toward these population groups not only to prevent but also to better manage the condition. There is some evidence that blacks may respond differently to different types of training, showing a better response to resistance training than to aerobic training, unlike white Americans,¹⁹⁶ which highlights the fact that different approaches are necessary, although the details of this are limited.

Financial, time, and other barriers may limit uptake in some minority groups. Although leisure-time physical activity is low in patients with T2DM across all racial/ethnic groups in the United States, low levels of physical activity in black women account for most of the observed racial differences between whites and blacks.197 However, although environmental barriers are often cited as important limitations to activity, including unsafe walking areas, transportation problems, and lack of child care, some evidence suggests that lack of activity is related to the influence of medical conditions and the attitudes and knowledge of the subjects.¹⁹⁸ In contrast, environmental issues such as the availability of many nearby places to walk, the ability to walk to nearby places, and a pleasant local environment may play a more important role in the activity of patients with T2DM in rural areas.199 Obesity, lower income level, and underestimation of required activity levels appear to be factors that identify blacks with T2DM and lower physical activity levels,²⁰⁰ and these could be used to target interventions to promote physical activity in high-risk subjects. Recommendations for the provision of exercise advice have been published for various ethnic groups.^{201,202}

8. Conclusions

Exercise training in patients with T2DM is feasible, well tolerated, and beneficial. Individualized exercise prescription offers an ideal opportunity to account for both cardiac and noncardiac considerations in T2DM. To improve cardiovascular risk, it is recommended that patients with T2DM accumulate a minimum of 150 minutes per week of at least moderate-intensity and/or 90 minutes per week of at least vigorous-intensity cardiorespiratory exercise. In addition, resistance training should be encouraged. These guidelines can be achieved with varying contributions of moderate- to vigorous-intensity cardiorespiratory exercise. Patients should train on at least 3 nonconsecutive days each week to maximize benefits. Individual sessions should last for no less than 10 minutes. Sedentary behaviors should be minimized. Exercise training should be implemented longterm, with telephone exercise counseling identified as a strategy that is economical, practical, and effective. This counseling provides the opportunity to assess exercise levels, adjust exercise prescriptions, and provide motivation and support. Contact frequency can decrease over time, because maintenance of initial high-frequency contact may not be necessary.

Sources of Funding

This work was supported in part by a Centre of Clinical Research Excellence award (455832) from the National Health and Medical Research Council, Canberra, Australia.

Disclosures

Writing Group Disclosures

Writing Group Member	Employment	Research Grant	Other Research Support	Speakers' Bureau/Honoraria	Expert Witness	Ownership Interest	Consultant/ Advisory Board	Other
Thomas H. Marwick	University of Queensland	National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia†; National Heart Foundation of Australia†	AstraZeneca*; GE Medical Systems*; Lantheus Medical Imaging*; Siemens*, Philips*	None	None	None	Philips*	None
Alain G. Bertoni	Wake Forest University	National Institutes of Health†	None	None	None	None	None	None
Roger S. Blumenthal	Johns Hopkins	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Deborah A. Chyun	New York University, College of Nursing	Bristol Myers Squibb Medical Imaging†	None	None	None	None	None	None
Matthew D. Hordern	University of Queensland	National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia†	None	None	None	None	None	None
Todd Miller	Mayo Clinic	Boehringer Ingelheim*; Boston Scientific*; Bristol Myers Squibb*; KAI Pharmaceuticals*; Lantheus Medical Imaging†; Molecular Insight Pharmaceuticals†; Radiant Medicals*; Spectranetics*; TargeGen*	None	None	None	None	TherOx, Inc.*; The Medicines Company*	None
George Philippides	Boston Medical Center	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Albert Rocchini	University of Michigan	AGA Medical*	None	None	None	None	None	None

This table represents the relationships of writing group members that may be perceived as actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest as reported on the Disclosure Questionnaire, which all members of the writing group are required to complete and submit. A relationship is considered to be "significant" if (1) the person receives \$10 000 or more during any 12-month period, or 5% or more of the person's gross income; or (2) the person owns 5% or more of the voting stock or share of the entity, or owns \$10 000 or more of the fair market value of the entity. A relationship is considered to be "modest" if it is less than "significant" under the preceding definition.

*Modest.

+Significant.

Reviewer Disclosures

Reviewer	Employment	Research Grant	Other Research Support	Speakers' Bureau/Honoraria	Expert Witness	Ownership Interest	Consultant/Advisory Board	Other
Gerald Fletcher	Mayo Clinic Jacksonville	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Theodore Mazzone	University of Illinois–Chicago	None	None	None	None	None	None	None
Darren K. McGuire	University of Texas– Southwestern Medical Center	GlaxoSmithKline†	None	Takeda Pharmaceuticals North America†	None	None	Johnson & Johnson*	None

This table represents the relationships of reviewers that may be perceived as actual or reasonably perceived conflicts of interest as reported on the Disclosure Questionnaire, which all reviewers are required to complete and submit. A relationship is considered to be "significant" if (1) the person receives \$10 000 or more during any 12-month period, or 5% or more of the person's gross income; or (2) the person owns 5% or more of the voting stock or share of the entity, or owns \$10 000 or more of the fair market value of the entity. A relationship is considered to be "modest" if it is less than "significant" under the preceding definition. *Modest

wouest.

+Significant.

9. References

- 1. Fox CS, Pencina MJ, Meigs JB, Vasan RS, Levitzky YS, D'Agostino RB Sr. Trends in the incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus from the 1970s to the 1990s: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation.* 2006; 113:2914–2918.
- Gregg EW, Cheng YJ, Cadwell BL, Imperatore G, Williams DE, Flegal KM, Narayan KM, Williamson DF. Secular trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors according to body mass index in US adults [published correction appears in JAMA. 2005;294:182]. JAMA. 2005;293: 1868–1874.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Fact Sheet: General Information and National Estimates of Diabetes in the United States, 2007. Atlanta, Ga: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2008.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Diabetes: Australian Facts* 2002. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2002. AIHW Cat. No. CVD 20 (Diabetes Series No. 3).
- Pavkov ME, Bennett PH, Knowler WC, Krakoff J, Sievers ML, Nelson RG. Effect of youth-onset type 2 diabetes mellitus on incidence of end-stage renal disease and mortality in young and middle-aged Pima Indians. JAMA. 2006;296:421–426.
- Dunstan D, Zimmet P, Welborn T, Sicree R, Armstrong T, Atkins R, Cameron A, Shaw J, Chadban S; on behalf of the AusDiab Steering Committee. *Diabesity & Associated Disorders in Australia– 2000: The Accelerating Epidemic: The Australian Diabetes Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab).* Melbourne, Australia: International Diabetes Institute; 2001.
- Fox CS, Coady S, Sorlie PD, D'Agostino RB Sr, Pencina MJ, Vasan RS, Meigs JB, Levy D, Savage PJ. Increasing cardiovascular disease burden due to diabetes mellitus: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2007;115:1544–1550.
- Simpson SH, Corabian P, Jacobs P, Johnson JA. The cost of major comorbidity in people with diabetes mellitus. CMAJ. 2003;168: 1661–1667.
- Gu K, Cowie CC, Harris MI. Mortality in adults with and without diabetes in a national cohort of the U.S. population, 1971–1993. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21:1138–1145.
- Hogan P, Dall T, Nikolov P; American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2002. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:917–932.
- Mathers C, Penm R. Health System Costs of Cardiovascular Diseases and Diabetes in Australia 1993–94. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (Health and Welfare Expenditure Series No. 5); 1999. AIHW Cat. No. HWE 11.
- Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Koro CE, Ephross SA, Brown JB. The incidence of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetes: an update. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27:1879–1884.
- Bell DS. Heart failure: the frequent, forgotten, and often fatal complication of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:2433–2441.
- Fang ZY, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: evidence, mechanisms, and therapeutic implications. *Endocr Rev.* 2004;25: 543–567.

- Fang ZY, Yuda S, Anderson V, Short L, Case C, Marwick TH. Echocardiographic detection of early diabetic myocardial disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41:611–617.
- Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HA. 10-Year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;359:1577–1589.
- UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Intensive bloodglucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33) [published correction appears in *Lancet*. 1999; 354:602]. *Lancet*. 1998;352:837–853.
- UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34) [published correction appears in *Lancet*. 1998;352:1558]. *Lancet*. 1998;352:854–865.
- Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, Woodward M, Marre M, Cooper M, Glasziou P, Grobbee D, Hamet P, Harrap S, Heller S, Liu L, Mancia G, Mogensen CE, Pan C, Poulter N, Rodgers A, Williams B, Bompoint S, de Galan BE, Joshi R, Travert F; ADVANCE Collaborative Group. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358: 2560–2572.
- Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC Jr, Bigger JT, Buse JB, Cushman WC, Genuth S, Ismail-Beigi F, Grimm RH Jr, Probstfield JL, Simons-Morton DG, Friedewald WT; Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358:2545–2559.
- Wing RR, Epstein LH, Paternostro-Bayles M, Kriska A, Nowalk MP, Gooding W. Exercise in a behavioural weight control programme for obese patients with type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 1988; 31:902–909.
- Khan S, Rupp J. The effect of exercise conditioning, diet, and drug therapy on glycosylated hemoglobin levels in type 2 (NIDDM) diabetics. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 1995;35:281–288.
- Agurs-Collins TD, Kumanyika SK, Ten Have TR, Adams-Campbell LL. A randomized controlled trial of weight reduction and exercise for diabetes management in older African-American subjects. *Diabetes Care.* 1997;20:1503–1511.
- 24. Dunstan DW, Mori TA, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Burke V, Morton AR, Stanton KG. The independent and combined effects of aerobic exercise and dietary fish intake on serum lipids and glycemic control in NIDDM: a randomized controlled study. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:913–921.
- Honkola A, Forsen T, Eriksson J. Resistance training improves the metabolic profile in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Acta Diabetol.* 1997;34:245–248.
- 26. Mourier A, Gautier JF, De Kerviler E, Bigard AX, Villette JM, Garnier JP, Duvallet A, Guezennec CY, Cathelineau G. Mobilization of visceral adipose tissue related to the improvement in insulin sensitivity in response to physical training in NIDDM: effects of branched-chain amino acid supplements. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:385–391.

- Dunstan DW, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Burke V, Morton AR, Stanton KG. Effects of a short-term circuit weight training program on glycaemic control in NIDDM. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 1998;40:53–61.
- Tessier D, Ménard J, Fülöp T, Ardilouze J, Roy M, Dubuc N, Dubois M, Gauthier P. Effects of aerobic physical exercise in the elderly with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* 2000;31:121–132.
- Castaneda C, Layne JE, Munoz-Orians L, Gordon PL, Walsmith J, Foldvari M, Roubenoff R, Tucker KL, Nelson ME. A randomized controlled trial of resistance exercise training to improve glycemic control in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25: 2335–2341.
- Dunstan DW, Daly RM, Owen N, Jolley D, De Courten M, Shaw J, Zimmet P. High-intensity resistance training improves glycemic control in older patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25: 1729–1736.
- Maiorana A, O'Driscoll G, Goodman C, Taylor R, Green D. Combined aerobic and resistance exercise improves glycemic control and fitness in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2002;56:115–123.
- 32. Tsujiuchi T, Kumano H, Yoshiuchi K, He D, Tsujiuchi Y, Kuboki T, Suematsu H, Hirao K. The effect of Qi-gong relaxation exercise on the control of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25:241–242.
- Baldi JC, Snowling N. Resistance training improves glycaemic control in obese type 2 diabetic men. *Int J Sports Med.* 2003;24:419–423.
- Cuff DJ, Meneilly GS, Martin A, Ignaszewski A, Tildesley HD, Frohlich JJ. Effective exercise modality to reduce insulin resistance in women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:2977–2982.
- 35. Di Loreto C, Fanelli C, Lucidi P, Murdolo G, De Cicco A, Parlanti N, Santeusanio F, Brunetti P, De Feo P. Validation of a counseling strategy to promote the adoption and the maintenance of physical activity by type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:404–408.
- 36. Dunstan DW, Daly RM, Owen N, Jolley D, Vulikh E, Shaw J, Zimmet P. Home-based resistance training is not sufficient to maintain improved glycemic control following supervised training in older individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:3–9.
- Kadoglou NP, Iliadis F, Liapis CD, Perrea D, Angelopoulou N, Alevizos M. Beneficial effects of combined treatment with rosiglitazone and exercise on cardiovascular risk factors in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2007;30:2242–2244.
- Kadoglou NP, Iliadis F, Angelopoulou N, Perrea D, Ampatzidis G, Liapis CD, Alevizos M. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* 2007;14:837–843.
- 39. Pi-Sunyer X, Blackburn G, Brancati FL, Bray GA, Bright R, Clark JM, Curtis JM, Espeland MA, Foreyt JP, Graves K, Haffner SM, Harrison B, Hill JO, Horton ES, Jakicic J, Jeffery RW, Johnson KC, Kahn S, Kelley DE, Kitabchi AE, Knowler WC, Lewis CE, Maschak-Carey BJ, Montgomery B, Nathan DM, Patricio J, Peters A, Redmon JB, Reeves RS, Ryan DH, Safford M, Van Dorsten B, Wadden TA, Wagenknecht L, Wesche-Thobaben J, Wing RR, Yanovski SZ; Look AHEAD Research Group. Reduction in weight and cardiovascular disease risk factors in individuals with type 2 diabetes: one-year results of the Look AHEAD trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2007;30:1374–1383.
- 40. Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Boulé NG, Wells GA, Prud'homme D, Fortier M, Reid RD, Tulloch H, Coyle D, Phillips P, Jennings A, Jaffey J. Effects of aerobic training, resistance training, or both on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;147:357–369.
- Brun JF, Bordenave S, Mercier J, Jaussent A, Picot MC, Préfaut C. Cost-sparing effect of twice-weekly targeted endurance training in type 2 diabetics: a one-year controlled randomized trial. *Diabetes Metab.* 2008;34:258–265.
- 42. Krousel-Wood MA, Berger L, Jiang X, Blonde L, Myers L, Webber L. Does home-based exercise improve body mass index in patients with type 2 diabetes? Results of a feasibility trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2008;79:230–236.
- 43. Nojima H, Watanabe H, Yamane K, Kitahara Y, Sekikawa K, Yamamoto H, Yokoyama A, Inamizu T, Asahara T, Kohno N; Hiroshima University Health Promotion Study Group. Effect of aerobic exercise training on oxidative stress in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism.* 2008;57:170–176.
- 44. Tsang T, Orr R, Lam P, Comino E, Singh MF. Effects of tai chi on glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity in older adults with type 2 diabetes: a randomised double-blind sham-exercise-controlled trial. *Age Ageing*. 2008;37:64–71.

- 45. Winnick JJ, Sherman WM, Habash DL, Stout MB, Failla ML, Belury MA, Schuster DP. Short-term aerobic exercise training in obese humans with type 2 diabetes mellitus improves whole-body insulin sensitivity through gains in peripheral, not hepatic insulin sensitivity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2008;93:771–778.
- 46. Maiorana A, O'Driscoll G, Cheetham C, Dembo L, Stanton K, Goodman C, Taylor R, Green D. The effect of combined aerobic and resistance exercise training on vascular function in type 2 diabetes. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2001;38:860–866.
- 47. Kim SH, Lee SJ, Kang ES, Kang S, Hur KY, Lee HJ, Ahn CW, Cha BS, Yoo JS, Lee HC. Effects of lifestyle modification on metabolic parameters and carotid intima-media thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism.* 2006;55:1053–1059.
- Middlebrooke AR, Elston LM, Macleod KM, Mawson DM, Ball CI, Shore AC, Tooke JE. Six months of aerobic exercise does not improve microvascular function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*. 2006; 49:2263–2271.
- Albright A, Franz M, Hornsby G, Kriska A, Marrero D, Ullrich I, Verity LS. American College of Sports Medicine position stand: exercise and type 2 diabetes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32:1345–1360.
- Snowling NJ, Hopkins WG. Effects of different modes of exercise training on glucose control and risk factors for complications in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29:2518–2527.
- Ishii T, Yamakita T, Sato T, Tanaka S, Fujii S. Resistance training improves insulin sensitivity in NIDDM subjects without altering maximal oxygen uptake. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21:1353–1355.
- Minuk HL, Vranic M, Marliss EB, Hanna AK, Albisser AM, Zinman B. Glucoregulatory and metabolic response to exercise in obese noninsulindependent diabetes. *Am J Physiol.* 1981;240:E458–E464.
- Hübinger A, Franzen A, Gries FA. Hormonal and metabolic response to physical exercise in hyperinsulinemic and non-hyperinsulinemic type 2 diabetics. *Diabetes Res.* 1987;4:57–61.
- 54. Mourier A, Bigard AX, de Kerviler E, Roger B, Legrand H, Guezennec CY. Combined effects of caloric restriction and branched-chain amino acid supplementation on body composition and exercise performance in elite wrestlers. *Int J Sports Med.* 1997;18:47–55.
- 55. Poirier P, Tremblay A, Broderick T, Catellier C, Tancrede G, Nadeau A. Impact of moderate aerobic exercise training on insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic men treated with oral hypoglycemic agents: is insulin sensitivity enhanced only in nonobese subjects? *Med Sci Monit.* 2002; 8:CR59–CR65.
- Norris SL, Zhang X, Avenell A, Gregg E, Brown TJ, Schmid CH, Lau J. Long-term non-pharmacologic weight loss interventions for adults with type 2 diabetes. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2005 Apr 18:CD004095.
- Hordern MD, Cooney LM, Beller EM, Prins JB, Marwick TH, Coombes JS. Determinants of changes in blood glucose response to short-term exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)*. 2008;115:273–281.
- Borghouts LB, Keizer HA. Exercise and insulin sensitivity: a review. Int J Sports Med. 2000;21:1–12.
- Goodyear LJ, Kahn BB. Exercise, glucose transport, and insulin sensitivity. Annu Rev Med. 1998;49:235–261.
- Douen AG, Ramlal T, Klip A, Young DA, Cartee GD, Holloszy JO. Exercise-induced increase in glucose transporters in plasma membranes of rat skeletal muscle. *Endocrinology*. 1989;124:449–454.
- Fushiki T, Wells JA, Tapscott EB, Dohm GL. Changes in glucose transporters in muscle in response to exercise. *Am J Physiol.* 1989; 256(pt 1):E580–E587.
- Goodyear LJ, Hirshman MF, Horton ES. Exercise-induced translocation of skeletal muscle glucose transporters. *Am J Physiol.* 1991;261(pt 1):E795–E799.
- Goodyear LJ, Hirshman MF, Smith RJ, Horton ES. Glucose transporter number, activity, and isoform content in plasma membranes of red and white skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol*. 1991;261(pt 1):E556–E561.
- Goodyear LJ, Hirshman MF, King PA, Horton ED, Thompson CM, Horton ES. Skeletal muscle plasma membrane glucose transport and glucose transporters after exercise. *J Appl Physiol*. 1990;68:193–198.
- Ploug T, Ralston E. Exploring the whereabouts of GLUT4 in skeletal muscle. *Mol Membr Biol*. 2002;19:39–49. Review.
- Ploug T, Galbo H, Richter EA. Increased muscle glucose uptake during contractions: no need for insulin. *Am J Physiol*. 1984;247(pt 1):E726–E731.

- Wallberg-Henriksson H, Holloszy JO. Activation of glucose transport in diabetic muscle: responses to contraction and insulin. *Am J Physiol.* 1985;249(pt 1):C233–C237.
- Eriksson J, Taimela S, Eriksson K, Parviainen S, Peltonen J, Kujala U. Resistance training in the treatment of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Int J Sports Med.* 1997;18:242–246.
- Rattigan S, Wallis MG, Youd JM, Clark MG. Exercise training improves insulin-mediated capillary recruitment in association with glucose uptake in rat hindlimb. *Diabetes*. 2001;50:2659–2665.
- Klein S, Fontana L, Young VL, Coggan AR, Kilo C, Patterson BW, Mohammed BS. Absence of an effect of liposuction on insulin action and risk factors for coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;350: 2549–2557.
- 71. Wilmore JH, Green JS, Stanforth PR, Gagnon J, Rankinen T, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, Bouchard C. Relationship of changes in maximal and submaximal aerobic fitness to changes in cardiovascular disease and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus risk factors with endurance training: the HERITAGE Family Study. *Metabolism.* 2001;50: 1255–1263.
- Yeater RA, Ullrich IH, Maxwell LP, Goetsch VL. Coronary risk factors in type II diabetes: response to low-intensity aerobic exercise. W V Med J. 1990;86:287–290.
- Marchesini G, Pontiroli A, Salvioli G, Novi RF, Vitacolonna E, Taboga C, Ciccarone AM, Grossi E; QUOVADIS Study Group. Snoring, hypertension and type 2 diabetes in obesity: protection by physical activity. *J Endocrinol Invest*. 2004;27:150–157.
- 74. Miche E, Herrmann G, Nowak M, Wirtz U, Tietz M, Hürst M, Zoller B, Radzewitz A. Effect of an exercise training program on endothelial dysfunction in diabetic and non-diabetic patients with severe chronic heart failure. *Clin Res Cardiol.* 2006;95(suppl 1):i117–i124.
- Broderick TL, Poirier P, Gillis M. Exercise training restores abnormal myocardial glucose utilization and cardiac function in diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2005;21:44–50.
- 76. De Angelis KL, Oliveira AR, Dall'Ago P, Peixoto LR, Gadonski G, Lacchini S, Fernandes TG, Irigoyen MC. Effects of exercise training on autonomic and myocardial dysfunction in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* 2000;33:635–641.
- DeBlieux PM, Barbee RW, McDonough KH, Shepherd RE. Exercise training improves cardiac performance in diabetic rats. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 1993;203:209–213.
- Mokhtar N, Lavoie JP, Rousseau-Migneron S, Nadeau A. Physical training reverses defect in mitochondrial energy production in heart of chronically diabetic rats. *Diabetes*. 1993;42:682–687.
- Hall JL, Sexton WL, Stanley WC. Exercise training attenuates the reduction in myocardial GLUT-4 in diabetic rats. *J Appl Physiol*. 1995; 78:76–81.
- Osborn BA, Daar JT, Laddaga RA, Romano FD, Paulson DJ. Exercise training increases sarcolemmal GLUT-4 protein and mRNA content in diabetic heart. J Appl Physiol. 1997;82:828–834.
- Paulson DJ, Kopp SJ, Peace DG, Tow JP. Myocardial adaptation to endurance exercise training in diabetic rats. *Am J Physiol*. 1987;252(pt 2):R1073–R1081.
- Paulson DJ, Kopp SJ, Peace DG, Tow JP. Improved postischemic recovery of cardiac pump function in exercised trained diabetic rats. *J Appl Physiol.* 1988;65:187–193.
- Paulson DJ, Mathews R, Bowman J, Zhao J. Metabolic effects of treadmill exercise training on the diabetic heart. J Appl Physiol. 1992; 73:265–271.
- Woodiwiss AJ, Kalk WJ, Norton GR. Habitual exercise attenuates myocardial stiffness in diabetes mellitus in rats. *Am J Physiol*. 1996; 271(pt 2):H2126–H2133.
- Wong CY, Byrne NM, O'Moore-Sullivan T, Hills AP, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Effect of weight loss due to lifestyle intervention on subclinical cardiovascular dysfunction in obesity (body mass index >30 kg/m²). Am J Cardiol. 2006;98:1593–1598.
- Church TS, Cheng YJ, Earnest CP, Barlow CE, Gibbons LW, Priest EL, Blair SN. Exercise capacity and body composition as predictors of mortality among men with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27:83–88.
- Hu G, Jousilahti P, Barengo NC, Qiao Q, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J. Physical activity, cardiovascular risk factors, and mortality among Finnish adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:799–805.
- Desai MY, Nasir K, Rumberger JA, Braunstein JB, Post WS, Budoff MJ, Blumenthal RS. Relation of degree of physical activity to coronary artery calcium score in asymptomatic individuals with multiple metabolic risk factors. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;94:729–732.

- Stewart KJ. Exercise training and the cardiovascular consequences of type 2 diabetes and hypertension: plausible mechanisms for improving cardiovascular health. JAMA. 2002;288:1622–1631.
- Thompson PD, Funk EJ, Carleton RA, Sturner WQ. Incidence of death during jogging in Rhode Island from 1975 through 1980. JAMA. 1982; 247:2535–2538.
- Smart N, Marwick TH. Exercise training for patients with heart failure: a systematic review of factors that improve mortality and morbidity. *Am J Med.* 2004;116:693–706.
- Melzer K, Kayser B, Pichard C. Physical activity: the health benefits outweigh the risks. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2004;7:641–647.
- 93. Gibbons RJ, Abrams J, Chatterjee K, Daley J, Deedwania PC, Douglas JS, Ferguson TB Jr, Fihn SD, Fraker TD Jr, Gardin JM, O'Rourke RA, Pasternak RC, Williams SV, Gibbons RJ, Alpert JS, Antman EM, Hiratzka LF, Fuster V, Faxon DP, Gregoratos G, Jacobs AK, Smith SC Jr. ACC/AHA 2002 guideline update for the management of patients with chronic stable angina: summary article: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on the Management of Patients With Chronic Stable Angina). *Circulation*. 2003;107:149–158.
- 94. Gibbons RJ, Balady GJ, Bricker JT, Chaitman BR, Fletcher GF, Froelicher VF, Mark DB, McCallister BD, Mooss AN, O'Reilly MG, Winters WL Jr, Gibbons RJ, Antman EM, Alpert JS, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gregoratos G, Hiratzka LF, Jacobs AK, Russell RO, Smith SC Jr. ACC/AHA 2002 guideline update for exercise testing: summary article: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee to Update the 1997 Exercise Testing Guidelines). *Circulation*. 2002;106:1883–1892.
- 95. Grundy SM, Howard B, Smith S Jr, Eckel R, Redberg R, Bonow RO. Prevention Conference VI: Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease: executive summary: conference proceeding for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2002;105:2231–2239.
- 96. Wackers FJ, Young LH, Inzucchi SE, Chyun DA, Davey JA, Barrett EJ, Taillefer R, Wittlin SD, Heller GV, Filipchuk N, Engel S, Ratner RE, Iskandrian AE; Detection of Ischemia in Asymptomatic Diabetics Investigators. Detection of silent myocardial ischemia in asymptomatic diabetic subjects: the DIAD study [published correction appears in *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:504]. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27:1954–1961.
- Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL Jr, Jones DW, Materson BJ, Oparil S, Wright JT Jr, Roccella EJ. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*. 2003;42:1206–1252.
- Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive summary of the Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA. 2001;285:2486–2497.
- 99. Kamalesh M, Feigenbaum H, Sawada S. Challenge of identifying patients with diabetes mellitus who are at low risk for coronary events by use of cardiac stress imaging. *Am Heart J.* 2004;147:561–563.
- Marwick TH, Case C, Sawada S, Vasey C, Short L, Lauer M. Use of stress echocardiography to predict mortality in patients with diabetes and known or suspected coronary artery disease. *Diabetes Care*. 2002; 25:1042–1048.
- 101. Chaowalit N, Arruda AL, McCully RB, Bailey KR, Pellikka PA. Dobutamine stress echocardiography in patients with diabetes mellitus: enhanced prognostic prediction using a simple risk score. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47:1029–1036.
- Rajagopalan N, Miller TD, Hodge DO, Frye RL, Gibbons RJ. Identifying high-risk asymptomatic diabetic patients who are candidates for screening stress single-photon emission computed tomography imaging. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45:43–49.
- Wackers FJ, Zaret BL. Detection of myocardial ischemia in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Circulation*. 2002;105:5–7.
- 104. Vanzetto G, Halimi S, Hammoud T, Fagret D, Benhamou PY, Cordonnier D, Denis B, Machecourt J. Prediction of cardiovascular events in clinically selected high-risk NIDDM patients: prognostic value of exercise stress test and thallium-201 single-photon emission computed tomography. *Diabetes Care*. 1999;22:19–26.
- 105. Zellweger MJ, Hachamovitch R, Kang X, Hayes SW, Friedman JD, Germano G, Pfisterer ME, Berman DS. Prognostic relevance of symptoms versus objective evidence of coronary artery disease in diabetic patients. *Eur Heart J*. 2004;25:543–550.

Downloaded from circ.ahajournals.org at Terkko National Library of Health Sciences on January 15, 2010

- 106. Scognamiglio R, Negut C, Ramondo A, Tiengo A, Avogaro A. Detection of coronary artery disease in asymptomatic patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47:65–71.
- 107. Milan Study on Atherosclerosis and Diabetes (MiSAD) Group. Prevalence of unrecognized silent myocardial ischemia and its association with atherosclerotic risk factors in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol. 1997;79:134–139.
- 108. Hoff JA, Quinn L, Sevrukov A, Lipton RB, Daviglus M, Garside DB, Ajmere NK, Gandhi S, Kondos GT. The prevalence of coronary artery calcium among diabetic individuals without known coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41:1008–1012.
- 109. Elkeles RS, Feher MD, Flather MD, Godsland IF, Nugara F, Richmond W, Rubens MB, Wang D; PREDICT Study Group. The association of coronary calcium score and conventional cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetic subjects asymptomatic for coronary heart disease (the PREDICT Study). *Diabet Med.* 2004;21:1129–1134.
- 110. Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Berman DS, Callister TQ. Prognostic value of coronary artery calcium screening in subjects with and without diabetes. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;43:1663–1669.
- 111. Anand DV, Lim E, Hopkins D, Corder R, Shaw LJ, Sharp P, Lipkin D, Lahiri A. Risk stratification in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes: prospective evaluation of the combined use of coronary artery calcium imaging and selective myocardial perfusion scintigraphy. *Eur Heart J*. 2006;27:713–721.
- 112. Carnethon MR, Bertoni AG, Shea S, Greenland P, Ni H, Jacobs DR Jr, Saad M, Liu K. Racial/ethnic differences in subclinical atherosclerosis among adults with diabetes: the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:2768–2770.
- 113. Qu W, Le TT, Azen SP, Xiang M, Wong ND, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Value of coronary artery calcium scanning by computed tomography for predicting coronary heart disease in diabetic subjects. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:905–910.
- American Diabetes Association. Diabetes mellitus and exercise. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(suppl 1):S64–S68.
- 115. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care for patients with diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25:213–229.
- Henderson JN, Allen KV, Deary IJ, Frier BM. Hypoglycaemia in insulin-treated type 2 diabetes: frequency, symptoms and impaired awareness. *Diabet Med.* 2003;20:1016–1021.
- 117. Janssen MM, Snoek FJ, de Jongh RT, Casteleijn S, Deville W, Heine RJ. Biological and behavioural determinants of the frequency of mild, biochemical hypoglycaemia in patients with type 1 diabetes on multiple insulin injection therapy. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* 2000;16:157–163.
- Albisser AM, Sakkal S, Wright C. Home blood glucose prediction: validation, safety, and efficacy testing in clinical diabetes. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* 2005;7:487–496.
- Grimm JJ, Ybarra J, Berné C, Muchnick S, Golay A. A new table for prevention of hypoglycaemia during physical activity in type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Metab.* 2004;30:465–470.
- 120. Bussau VA, Ferreira LD, Jones TW, Fournier PA. The 10-s maximal sprint: a novel approach to counter an exercise-mediated fall in glycemia in individuals with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29:601–606.
- 121. Wadden TA, West DS, Delahanty L, Jakicic J, Rejeski J, Williamson D, Berkowitz RI, Kelley DE, Tomchee C, Hill JO, Kumanyika S; Look AHEAD Research Group. The Look AHEAD study: a description of the lifestyle intervention and the evidence supporting it [published correction appears in *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2007;15:1339]. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2006;14:737–752.
- 122. Colberg SR, Stansberry KB, McNitt PM, Vinik AI. Chronic exercise is associated with enhanced cutaneous blood flow in type 2 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2002;16:139–145.
- Armstrong DG, Lavery LA, Holtz-Neiderer K, Mohler MJ, Wendel CS, Nixon BP, Boulton AJ. Variability in activity may precede diabetic foot ulceration. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27:1980–1984.
- van Deursen R. Mechanical loading and off-loading of the plantar surface of the diabetic foot. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2004;39(suppl 2):S87–S91.
- 125. Lavery LA, Higgins KR, Lanctot DR, Constantinides GP, Zamorano RG, Armstrong DG, Athanasiou KA, Agrawal CM. Home monitoring of foot skin temperatures to prevent ulceration. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27: 2642–2647.
- 126. Zinman B, Ruderman N, Campaigne BN, Devlin JT, Schneider SH; American Diabetes Association. Physical activity/exercise and diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27(suppl 1):S58–S62.
- 127. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2008. *Diabetes Care*. 2008;31(suppl 1):S12–S54.

- Ma J, Urizar GG Jr, Alehegn T, Stafford RS. Diet and physical activity counseling during ambulatory care visits in the United States. *Prev Med.* 2004;39:815–822.
- 129. Harris SB, Petrella RJ, Lambert-Lanning A, Leadbetter W, Cranston L. Lifestyle management for type 2 diabetes: are family physicians ready and willing? *Can Fam Physician*. 2004;50:1235–1243.
- 130. Harris SB, Lank CN. Recommendations from the Canadian Diabetes Association: 2003 guidelines for prevention and management of diabetes and related cardiovascular risk factors [article in English, French]. *Can Fam Physician*. 2004;50:425–433.
- Manson JE, Skerrett PJ, Greenland P, VanItallie TB. The escalating pandemics of obesity and sedentary lifestyle: a call to action for clinicians. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164:249–258.
- 132. Eden KB, Orleans CT, Mulrow CD, Pender NJ, Teutsch SM. Does counseling by clinicians improve physical activity? A summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2002;137:208–215.
- 133. van Sluijs EM, van Poppel MN, Twisk JW, Chin A Paw MJ, Calfas KJ, van Mechelen W. Effect of a tailored physical activity intervention delivered in general practice settings: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Public Health*. 2005;95:1825–1831.
- Egede LE. Lifestyle modification to improve blood pressure control in individuals with diabetes: is physician advice effective? *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:602–607.
- Loureiro ML, Nayga RM Jr. Obesity, weight loss, and physician's advice. Soc Sci Med. 2006;62:2458–2468.
- Beckman TJ. Prescribing exercise: is your physician's head in the game? Arch Intern Med. 2004;164:2066–2067.
- 137. American College of Sports Medicine; Johnson EP, ed. ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 6th ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2000.
- 138. Fletcher GF, Balady G, Blair SN, Blumenthal J, Caspersen C, Chaitman B, Epstein S, Sivarajan Froelicher ES, Froelicher VF, Pina IL, Pollock ML. Statement on exercise: benefits and recommendations for physical activity programs for all Americans: a statement for health professionals by the Committee on Exercise and Cardiac Rehabilitation of the Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 1996; 94:857–862.
- 139. Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, Macera CA, Heath GW, Thompson PD, Bauman A. Physical activity and public health: updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2007;116:1081–1093.
- 140. Buse JB, Ginsberg HN, Bakris GL, Clark NG, Costa F, Eckel R, Fonseca V, Gerstein HC, Grundy S, Nesto RW, Pignone MP, Plutzky J, Porte D, Redberg R, Stitzel KF, Stone NJ. Primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases in people with diabetes mellitus: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care.* 2007;30:162–172.
- 141. Pollock ML, Gaesser GA, Butcher JD, Després JP, Dishman RK, Franklin BA, Garber CE. American College of Sports Medicine position stand: the recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness, and flexibility in healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30:975–991.
- 142. Church TS, Earnest CP, Skinner JS, Blair SN. Effects of different doses of physical activity on cardiorespiratory fitness among sedentary, overweight or obese postmenopausal women with elevated blood pressure: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2007;297:2081–2091.
- 142a.Hordern MD, Coombes JS, Cooney LM, Jeffriess L, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Effects of exercise intervention on myocardial function in type 2 diabetes. *Heart*. In press.
- 143. Dolan NC, Liu K, Criqui MH, Greenland P, Guralnik JM, Chan C, Schneider JR, Mandapat AL, Martin G, McDermott MM. Peripheral artery disease, diabetes, and reduced lower extremity functioning. *Diabetes Care*. 2002;25:113–120.
- Donnelly R, Emslie-Smith AM, Gardner ID, Morris AD. ABC of arterial and venous disease: vascular complications of diabetes. *BMJ*. 2000;320: 1062–1066.
- 145. Boulé NG, Kenny GP, Haddad E, Wells GA, Sigal RJ. Meta-analysis of the effect of structured exercise training on cardiorespiratory fitness in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*. 2003;46:1071–1081.
- 146. King DS, Baldus PJ, Sharp RL, Kesl LD, Feltmeyer TL, Riddle MS. Time course for exercise-induced alterations in insulin action and glucose tolerance in middle-aged people. J Appl Physiol. 1995;78: 17–22.

- 147. Mikines KJ, Sonne B, Farrell PA, Tronier B, Galbo H. Effect of physical exercise on sensitivity and responsiveness to insulin in humans. *Am J Physiol.* 1988;254(pt 1):E248–E259.
- 148. Schneider SH, Amorosa LF, Khachadurian AK, Ruderman NB. Studies on the mechanism of improved glucose control during regular exercise in type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 1984;26: 355–360.
- Chambliss HO. Exercise duration and intensity in a weight-loss program. Clin J Sport Med. 2005;15:113–115.
- 150. Ibañez J, Izquierdo M, Argüelles I, Forga L, Larrión JL, García-Unciti M, Idoate F, Gorostiaga EM. Twice-weekly progressive resistance training decreases abdominal fat and improves insulin sensitivity in older men with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:662–667.
- Dela F, Larsen JJ, Mikines KJ, Ploug T, Petersen LN, Galbo H. Insulinstimulated muscle glucose clearance in patients with NIDDM: effects of one-legged physical training. *Diabetes*. 1995;44:1010–1020.
- 152. Tudor-Locke C, Bell RC, Myers AM, Harris SB, Ecclestone NA, Lauzon N, Rodger NW. Controlled outcome evaluation of the First Step Program: a daily physical activity intervention for individuals with type II diabetes. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004;28:113–119.
- 153. Soman VR, Koivisto VA, Deibert D, Felig P, DeFronzo RA. Increased insulin sensitivity and insulin binding to monocytes after physical training. *N Engl J Med.* 1979;301:1200–1204.
- 154. Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 1996.
- 155. Larsen JJ, Dela F, Madsbad S, Galbo H. The effect of intense exercise on postprandial glucose homeostasis in type II diabetic patients. *Diabetologia*. 1999;42:1282–1292.
- 156. Wisloff U, Støylen A, Loennechen JP, Bruvold M, Rognmo Ø, Haram PM, Tjonna AE, Helgerud J, Slørdahl SA, Lee SJ, Videm V, Bye A, Smith GL, Najjar SM, Ellingsen Ø, Skjaerpe T. Superior cardiovascular effect of aerobic interval training versus moderate continuous training in heart failure patients: a randomized study. *Circulation.* 2007;115: 3086–3094.
- 157. Kemi OJ, Haram PM, Loennechen JP, Osnes JB, Skomedal T, Wisløff U, Ellingsen Ø. Moderate vs. high exercise intensity: differential effects on aerobic fitness, cardiomyocyte contractility, and endothelial function. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;67:161–172.
- 158. Tjønna AE, Lee SJ, Rognmo Ø, Stølen TO, Bye A, Haram PM, Loennechen JP, Al-Share QY, Skogvoll E, Slørdahl SA, Kemi OJ, Najjar SM, Wisløff U. Aerobic interval training versus continuous moderate exercise as a treatment for the metabolic syndrome: a pilot study. *Circulation*. 2008;118:346–354.
- 159. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, Buchner D, Ettinger W, Heath GW, King AC, Kriska A, Leon AS, Marcus BH, Morris J, Paffenbarger RS Jr, Patrick K, Pollock ML, Rippe JM, Sallis J, Wilmore JH. Physical activity and public health: a recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. JAMA. 1995;273:402–407.
- 160. Yokoyama H, Emoto M, Fujiwara S, Motoyama K, Morioka T, Koyama H, Shoji T, Inaba M, Nishizawa Y. Short-term aerobic exercise improves arterial stiffness in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2004;65:85–93.
- 161. Braith RW, Magyari PM, Pierce GL, Edwards DG, Hill JA, White LJ, Aranda JM Jr. Effect of resistance exercise on skeletal muscle myopathy in heart transplant recipients. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;95:1192–1198.
- 162. Holten MK, Zacho M, Gaster M, Juel C, Wojtaszewski JF, Dela F. Strength training increases insulin-mediated glucose uptake, GLUT4 content, and insulin signaling in skeletal muscle in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 2004;53:294–305.
- 163. Host HH, Hansen PA, Nolte LA, Chen MM, Holloszy JO. Rapid reversal of adaptive increases in muscle GLUT-4 and glucose transport capacity after training cessation. J Appl Physiol. 1998;84:798–802.
- 164. Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Wasserman DH, Castaneda-Sceppa C, White RD. Physical activity/exercise and type 2 diabetes: a consensus statement from the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29: 1433–1438.
- Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot. 1997;12:38–48.
- 166. Woodard CM, Berry MJ. Enhancing adherence to prescribed exercise: structured behavioral interventions in clinical exercise programs. J Cardiopulm Rehabil. 2001;21:201–209.

- 167. Swift CS, Armstrong JE, Beerman KA, Campbell RK, Pond-Smith D. Attitudes and beliefs about exercise among persons with non-insulindependent diabetes. *Diabetes Educ.* 1995;21:533–540.
- Glasgow RE, Hampson SE, Strycker LA, Ruggiero L. Personal-model beliefs and social-environmental barriers related to diabetes selfmanagement. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:556–561.
- 169. Chyun D, Lacey KO, Katten DM, Talley S, Price WJ, Davey JA, Melkus GD. Glucose and cardiac risk factor control in individuals with type 2 diabetes: implications for patients and providers. *Diabetes Educ.* 2006; 32:925–939.
- Williams GC, Freedman ZR, Deci EL. Supporting autonomy to motivate patients with diabetes for glucose control. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21: 1644–1651.
- 171. Lustman PJ, Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, de Groot M, Carney RM, Clouse RE. Depression and poor glycemic control: a meta-analytic review of the literature. *Diabetes Care*. 2000;23:934–942.
- 172. Rubin RR, Peyrot M, Saudek CD. The effect of a diabetes education program incorporating coping skills training on emotional well-being and diabetes self-efficacy. *Diabetes Educ.* 1993;19:210–214.
- 173. Kirk A, Mutrie N, MacIntyre P, Fisher M. Increasing physical activity in people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:1186–1192.
- Wylie-Rosett J, Herman WH, Goldberg RB. Lifestyle intervention to prevent diabetes: intensive and cost effective. *Curr Opin Lipidol*. 2006; 17:37–44.
- 175. Woollard J, Beilin L, Lord T, Puddey I, MacAdam D, Rouse I. A controlled trial of nurse counselling on lifestyle change for hypertensives treated in general practice: preliminary results. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* 1995;22:466–468.
- 176. Harland J, White M, Drinkwater C, Chinn D, Farr L, Howel D. The Newcastle exercise project: a randomised controlled trial of methods to promote physical activity in primary care. *BMJ*. 1999;319:828–832.
- 177. Daubenmier JJ, Weidner G, Sumner MD, Mendell N, Merritt-Worden T, Studley J, Ornish D. The contribution of changes in diet, exercise, and stress management to changes in coronary risk in women and men in the Multisite Cardiac Lifestyle Intervention Program. *Ann Behav Med.* 2007;33:57–68.
- 178. Marcus BH, Williams DM, Dubbert PM, Sallis JF, King AC, Yancey AK, Franklin BA, Buchner D, Daniels SR, Claytor RP. Physical activity intervention studies: what we know and what we need to know: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (Subcommittee on Physical Activity); Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; and the Interdisciplinary Working Group on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. *Circulation*. 2006;114:2739–2752.
- 179. Satterfield DW, Volansky M, Caspersen CJ, Engelgau MM, Bowman BA, Gregg EW, Geiss LS, Hosey GM, May J, Vinicor F. Community-based lifestyle interventions to prevent type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2003;26:2643–2652.
- 180. Yoo JS, Hwang AR, Lee HC, Kim CJ. Development and validation of a computerized exercise intervention program for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Korea. *Yonsei Med J.* 2003;44:892–904.
- Allen NA. Social cognitive theory in diabetes exercise research: an integrative literature review. *Diabetes Educ.* 2004;30:805–819.
- 182. Vale MJ, Jelinek MV, Best JD, Dart AM, Grigg LE, Hare DL, Ho BP, Newman RW, McNeil JJ; COACH Study Group. Coaching patients On Achieving Cardiovascular Health (COACH): a multicenter randomized trial in patients with coronary heart disease. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163: 2775–2783.
- Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C, Mokdad AH. Compliance with physical activity recommendations in US adults with diabetes. *Diabet Med.* 2008;25: 221–227.
- 184. Goldstein MG, Whitlock EP, DePue J; Committee of the Addressing Multiple Behavioral Risk Factors in Primary Care Project. Multiple behavioral risk factor interventions in primary care: summary of research evidence. Am J Prev Med. 2004;27(suppl):61–79.
- 185. Skarfors ET, Wegener TA, Lithell H, Selinus I. Physical training as treatment for type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes in elderly men: a feasibility study over 2 years. *Diabetologia*. 1987;30:930–933.
- 186. Wing RR, Goldstein MG, Acton KJ, Birch LL, Jakicic JM, Sallis JF Jr, Smith-West D, Jeffery RW, Surwit RS. Behavioral science research in diabetes: lifestyle changes related to obesity, eating behavior, and physical activity. *Diabetes Care*. 2001;24:117–123.
- King AC, Haskell WL, Taylor CB, Kraemer HC, DeBusk RF. Group- vs home-based exercise training in healthy older men and women: a community-based clinical trial. *JAMA*. 1991;266:1535–1542.

- Castro CM, King AC, Brassington GS. Telephone versus mail interventions for maintenance of physical activity in older adults. *Health Psychol.* 2001;20:438–444.
- Kolt GS, Schofield GM, Kerse N, Garrett N, Oliver M. Effect of telephone counseling on physical activity for low-active older people in primary care: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007; 55:986–992.
- 190. Shinji S, Shigeru M, Ryusei U, Mitsuru M, Shigehiro K. Adherence to a home-based exercise program and incidence of cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes patients. *Int J Sports Med.* 2007;28:877–879.
- 191. Kirk A, Mutrie N, MacIntyre P, Fisher M. Effects of a 12-month physical activity counselling intervention on glycaemic control and on the status of cardiovascular risk factors in people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. 2004;47:821–832.
- 192. Vanninen E, Uusitupa M, Siitonen O, Laitinen J, Länsimies E. Habitual physical activity, aerobic capacity and metabolic control in patients with newly-diagnosed type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: effect of 1-year diet and exercise intervention. *Diabetologia*. 1992;35: 340–346.
- Mullooly C. Physical activity specialty educator. *Diabetes Educ.* 2004; 30:594, 596.
- 194. Norris SL, Zhang X, Avenell A, Gregg E, Bowman B, Serdula M, Brown TJ, Schmid CH, Lau J. Long-term effectiveness of lifestyle and behavioral weight loss interventions in adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Am J Med.* 2004;117:762–774.
- 195. Tokmakidis SP, Zois CE, Volaklis KA, Kotsa K, Touvra AM. The effects of a combined strength and aerobic exercise program on glucose

control and insulin action in women with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2004;92:437-442.

- 196. Winnick JJ, Gaillard T, Schuster DP. Resistance training differentially affects weight loss and glucose metabolism of White and African American patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Ethn Dis.* 2008;18: 152–156.
- Egede LE, Poston ME. Racial/ethnic differences in leisure-time physical activity levels among individuals with diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2004; 27:2493–2494.
- 198. Dutton GR, Johnson J, Whitehead D, Bodenlos JS, Brantley PJ. Barriers to physical activity among predominantly low-income African-American patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28: 1209–1210.
- 199. Deshpande AD, Baker EA, Lovegreen SL, Brownson RC. Environmental correlates of physical activity among individuals with diabetes in the rural midwest. *Diabetes Care*. 2005;28:1012–1018.
- Pearte CA, Gary TL, Brancati FL. Correlates of physical activity levels in a sample of urban African Americans with type 2 diabetes. *Ethn Dis.* 2004;14:198–205.
- Palmer TA, Jaworski CA. Exercise prescription for underprivileged minorities. *Curr Sports Med Rep.* 2004;3:344–348.
- 202. Bacardí-Gascón M, Rosales-Garay P, Jiménez-Cruz A. Effect of diabetes intervention programs on physical activity among migrant Mexican women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2004;27:616.

KEY WORDS: AHA Scientific Statements ■ exercise ■ diabetes mellitus ■ prevention ■ risk factors